Exploring the Impact of Climate Change and Atmospheric Oxidant on Crop Productivity in Pakistan



Author

Fatimah Mahmood

(Reg # 00000171197)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of

Master of Sciences

In

Environmental Sciences

INSTITUTE OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING (IESE) SCHOOL OF CIVIL AND ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING (SCEE) NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY (NUST) ISLAMABAD

2019

THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

It is certified that the final copy of MS thesis written by Ms. Fatimah Mahmood, Registration No. <u>00000171197</u> of <u>IESE (SCEE)</u> has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all aspects as per NUST Statues/Regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfilment for award of MS degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature with stamp: _____

Name of Supervisor: Dr. M. Fahim Khokhar (Professor, IESE, SCEE, NUST)

Date: _____

Signature of HoD with stamp: _____

Date: _____

Countersign by:

Signature (Dean/ Principal): _____

Date: _____

CERTIFICATE

It is certified that the contents and form of the thesis entitled

"EXPLORING THE IMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE AND ATMOSPHERIC OXIDANT ON CROP PRODUCTIVITY IN PAKISTAN"

Submitted by:

Fatimah Mahmood

have been found satisfactory for the requirement of the degree

Supervisor: _____

Dr. Muhammad Fahim Khokhar

Professor

IESE, SCEE, NUST

Member: _____

Dr. Zeeshan Ali Khan Assistant Professor

IESE, SCEE, NUST

Member: _____

Dr. Sofia Baig

Assistant Professor

IESE, SCEE, NUST

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my loving family, especially my father & mother.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge the support and constructive criticism of my supervisor Dr. M. Fahim Khokar, his kind guidance enabled me to complete this research study successfully. I would also like to show my gratitude to GEC members, Dr. Zeeshan Ali Khan and Dr. Sofia Baig for their assistance.

I am forever indebted to my family for their unwavering support in all the endeavours I take up. Last but not the least my friends, and CCARGO colleagues; especially Aysha Malik, Fasiha Safdar, and Ammara Aziz.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1	Background	1
1.2	Study Area	2
1.3	Justification for Selection of Study	3
1.4	Relevance of Proposed Study to National Needs	4
1.5	Significance of Study	5
1.6	Objectives	6
	Chapter 2: Literature Review	
2.1	Climate Change	7
2.2	Impact of Climate Change on Agricultural Crop Productivity	10
2.3	Tropospheric Ozone and its Impacts on Productivity of Crops	11
2.4	Conclusion of Literature Review	13
	Chapter 3: Materials & Methodology	_
3.1	General Methodology	14
3.2	Climate Data	14
3.3	Mann Kendall Trend Test	16
3.4	Error Analysis for Climate Model (CCSM4)	16
3.5	Crop Productivity	17
0.0	3.5.1 Harris-Tzavalis Unit Root Test	18
	3.5.2 Pearson's Chi-Squared Test	18
	3.5.3 Ramsey Test.	18
	3.5.4 Haussmann Test	18
	3.5.5. Fixed and Random Effects Multivariate Regression Model	19
3.6	Tropospheric Ozone	20
3.7	Methodology Flow Chart	21
	Chapter 4: Results & Discussions	
41	Temporal Analysis of Average Precipitation and Temperature within Wheat	
1.1	Rice and Cotton Growing Season in Selected Climatic Zones of Puniab & Sindh	22
4.2	Absolute Change in Average Precipitation & Temperature in Crop Growing	
	Season	24
4.3	Error Analysis CCSM4 Climate Model w.r.t PMD Weather Station Observations	- ·
	(1978 - 2005)	28
4.4	PMD Observed Average Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	-0
	CCSM4 Modelled RCP 4.5 and 8.5	33
4.5	Decadal Projected Average Climate in Wheat, Rice & Cotton under RCP	
	scenarios 4.5 & 8.5 (2010 – 2100)	41
4.6	Percentage Relative Change in Crop Productivity of Wheat. Rice and Cotton	
	Crop in $Y2006 - 2016$	49
4.7	Regression Model Results (Climate Change)	51
	4.7.1 Wheat Crop	54
	4.7.2 Rice Crop	54
	4.7.3 Cotton Crop	55
4.8	Identification of Vulnerable Crop Growing Areas under RCP 4.5 & 8.5.	56
4.9	Temporal Analysis of Tropospheric Ozone Concentrations over Puniab &	20
	Sindh	60
4.10	Regression Model Results (Climate Change & Tropospheric Ozone)	63

	Chapter 5: Conclusions & Recommendations	
5.1	Conclusions	67
5.2	Recommendations	68
	References	69
	Annexure	78

List of Abbreviations

AR5	Assessment Report Five
CCSM4	Community Climate System Model Version 4
CH4	Methane
СО	Carbon Monoxide
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide
DU	Dobson Unit
FAO	UN Food & Agriculture Organization
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GHGs	Greenhouse Gases
GoP	Government of Pakistan
IPCC	Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change
MLS	Microwave Limb Sounder
NMVOCs	Non-Methane Volatile Organic Compounds
NOx	Nitrogen Oxides
O 3	Ozone
OMI	Ozone Monitoring Instrument
PBS	Pakistan Bureau of Statistics
PMD	Pakistan Meteorological Department
PSRSP	Pakistan Rural Support Program
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathways
SRES	Special Report on Emissions Scenarios
тсо	Tropospheric Ozone Column
TOR	Tropospheric Ozone Residual

List of Figures

Figure 1.1:	Study Area Map	2
Figure 2.1:	Components & Interactions of a Climatic System	7
Figure 3.1:	Detailed diagram of methodology plan	21
Figure 4.1:	Zonal Average Climate in Wheat Crop Growing Season	22
Figure 4.2:	Zonal Average Climate in Rice Crop Growing Season	22
Figure 4.3:	Zonal Average Climate in Cotton Crop Growing Season	23
Figure 4.4:	Climatological Mean for Wheat, Rice & Cotton Crop Growing	
8	Season (1978 – 2005)	32
Figure 4.5:	PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	
U	CCSM4 Modelled Data (Wheat – Zone B)	33
Figure 4.6:	PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	
U	CCSM4 Modelled Data (Wheat – Zone D)	34
Figure 4.7:	PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	
U	CCSM4 Modelled Data (Wheat – Zone D)	35
Figure 4.8:	PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	
C	CCSM4 Modelled Data (Rice – Zone B)	36
Figure 4.9:	PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	
C	CCSM4 Modelled Data (Rice – Zone D)	36
Figure 4.10:	PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	
	CCSM4 Modelled Data (Rice – Zone E)	37
Figure 4.11:	PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	
	CCSM4 Modelled Data (Cotton – Zone D)	38
Figure 4.12:	PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to	
	CCSM4 Modelled Data (Cotton – Zone E)	39
Figure 4.13:	Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of	
	21 st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Wheat – Zone B)	41
Figure 4.14:	Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of	
	21 st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Wheat – Zone D)	42
Figure 4.15:	Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of	
	21^{st} Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Wheat – Zone E)	43
Figure 4.16:	Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of	
	21^{st} Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Rice – Zone B)	44
Figure 4.17:	Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of	
	21 st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Rice – Zone D)	45
Figure 4.18:	Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of	
	21^{st} Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Rice – Zone E)	46
Figure 4.19:	Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of	. –
	21 st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Cotton – Zone D)	47
Figure 4.20:	Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of	10
F ' 4.01	21 st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Cotton – Zone E)	48
Figure 4.21:	Maps Displaying Average Temperature in Wheat Growing Season	
E:	(2010 - 2100) under KUP 4.5 and 8.5	57
Figure 4.22:	(2010 2100) up der DCD 4.5 and 8.5	F7
Eigure 4 02	(2010 - 2100) under KUP 4.5 and 8.5	57
Figure 4.23:	(2010 2100) up der DCD 4.5 and 8.5	FO
	(2010 - 2100) under KCP 4.5 and 8.5	58

Maps Displaying Average Precipitation in Wheat Growing Season	
(2010 – 2100) under RCP 4.5 and 8.5	58
Maps Displaying Average Precipitation in Rice Growing Season	
(2010 – 2100) under RCP 4.5 and 8.5	59
Maps Displaying Average Precipitation in Cotton Growing Season	
(2010 – 2100) under RCP 4.5 and 8.5	59
Tropospheric Ozone Concentration over Punjab & Sindh (2005 –	
2016)	60
Seasonal variation in tropospheric ozone concentration over	
the study area (2005-2016)	62
Variation in Concentration of Tropospheric Ozone between	
Crop Seasons	62
	Maps Displaying Average Precipitation in Wheat Growing Season (2010 – 2100) under RCP 4.5 and 8.5 Maps Displaying Average Precipitation in Rice Growing Season (2010 – 2100) under RCP 4.5 and 8.5 Maps Displaying Average Precipitation in Cotton Growing Season (2010 – 2100) under RCP 4.5 and 8.5 Tropospheric Ozone Concentration over Punjab & Sindh (2005 – 2016) Seasonal variation in tropospheric ozone concentration over the study area (2005-2016) Variation in Concentration of Tropospheric Ozone between Crop Seasons

List of Tables

Table 2.1.	Detailed description of IPCC's Representative Concentration Pathways	8
Table 3.1:	District-wise Crop Calendar for Cotton Crop	15
Table 3.2:	District-wise Crop Calendar for Rice Crop	15
Table 3.3:	District-wise Crop Calendar for Wheat Crop	16
Table 3.4:	Climatic Zones of Punjab and Sindh	17
Table 3.5:	Software used in the research study	20
Table 4.1:	Change in Precipitation (mm) in Wheat Growing Districts of Puniab &	20
	Sindh: Baseline (1978-2005)	25
Table 4.2:	Change in Precipitation (mm) Rice Growing Districts of Punjab & Sindh;	
	Baseline (1978-2005)	25
Table 4.3:	Change in Precipitation (mm) in Cotton Growing Districts of Punjab &	
	Sindh; Baseline (1978-2005)	26
Table 4.4:	Change in Temperature (°C) Wheat Growing Districts of Punjab & Sindh;	
	Baseline (1978 – 2005)	26
Table 4.5:	Change in Temperature (°C) Rice Growing Districts of Puniab & Sindh:	
	Baseline (1978-2005)	27
Table 4.6:	Change in Temperature (°C) in Cotton Growing Districts of Punjab &	
	Sindh Baseline (1978-2005)	27
Table 4.7:	Error Analysis of CCSM4 for Wheat Growing Season	29
Table 4.8:	Error Analysis of CCSM4 for Rice Growing Season	29
Table 4.9:	Error Analysis of CCSM4 for Cotton Growing Season	29
Table 4.10:	Correlation (R ²) Model Simulation of Reanalysis Data Vs PMD Station	
	Observed Data	30
Table 4.11:	Mean Bias in Wheat Crop Growing Season (RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5)	40
Table 4.12:	Mean Bias in Wheat Crop Growing Season (RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5)	40
Table 4.13:	Mean Bias in Wheat Crop Growing Season (RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5)	40
Table 4.14:	% Relative Change in Wheat Crop Productivity (kg/hectares) w.r.t baseline	
	period 1981 – 2005	49
Table 4.15:	% Relative Change in Rice Crop Productivity (kg/hectares) w.r.t baseline	
	period 1981 – 2005	50
Table 4.16:	% Relative Change in Cotton Crop Productivity (kg/hectares) w.r.t baseline	
	period 1981 – 2005	50
Table 4.17:	Harris-Tzavalis unit root test results	51
Table 4.18:	Haussmann Test Results for Climate Variables	51
Table 4.19:	Pooled Data for Punjab and Sindh (Wheat, Rice and Cotton)	52
Table 4.20:	Statistics for Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Punjab & Sindh	53
Table 4.21:	Diagnostics tests for pooled panel data for districts of Punjab & Sindh	53
Table 4.22:	The calculated optimum average temperature & precipitation values for	
	crop growing season	53
Table 4.23:	Percentage Relative Change in Concentration of Tropospheric Ozone	
	within Crop Growing Season (2005 – 2016)	60
Table 4.24:	Correlation between temperature, precipitation and tropospheric ozone	61
Table 4.25:	Haussmann Test Results for Tropospheric Ozone Variable	63
Table 4.26:	Pooled Data for Punjab and Sindh (Wheat, Rice and Cotton)	64
Table 4.27:	Diagnostic Tests over Study Period	64
Table 4.28:	Statistics for Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Punjab & Sindh	65

Abstract

Pakistan is highly vulnerable to climate change and extreme weather events, both spatially and inherently. Considering the country's high dependence on agricultural products, to support the economy and a growing population, it is vital to gauge factors impacting the crop productivity. This study quantifies the change in temperature, precipitation and tropospheric ozone, overt the study region. Coupled with their respective effects, on productivity of three major crops; wheat, rice and cotton, within two of Pakistan's largest provinces: Punjab and Sindh. Based on the primary and secondary data, multivariate regression analysis is conducted. Moreover, highly vulnerable areas to climate change have been identified under RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5, till the end of this century. Results reveal a substantial increasing trend in temperature, whereas precipitation has high inter-annual variability. Tropospheric ozone concentrations; especially, in rice and cotton growing seasons observe rigorous upsurge. Regression results, based on fixed/random effects models, indicate that temperature above threshold values: 24.3°C, 33.0°C, 32.0°C for wheat, rice and cotton, respectively, negatively impacts productivity (statistically significant). Precipitation is statistically insignificant in explaining its impact on crop productivity. Tropospheric ozone adversely effects rice and cotton productivity, whereas its effect on wheat crop productivity is statistically insignificant. Overall, the region is heading towards temperature & pollution threshold exceedances at an alarming rate, which will impact the overall availability of suitable crop growing areas.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Background

Pakistan is an agrarian backed economy, which has a place amongst the top ten agro-based producers in the world (Rehman *et al.*, 2015). The country is among the world's top ten producers of wheat, cotton, sugarcane, and holds the thirteenth position in rice production. Wheat, rice, cotton and sugarcane contributes 6.5 %, while other minor crops amount to 2.3 % of the country's GDP. Furthermore, 43% of the country's workforce is currently employed in the agriculture sector (FAO, 2015). Despite Pakistan's efforts to increase agricultural production, the country is struggling with significant levels of food insecurity. According to World Food Programme (2009), more than 48 % of the population is food insecure, with approximately 41.4 million under-nourished people. Therefore, agriculture will plays a critical role with regards to both the food security and socioeconomic welfare of the country.

Concurrently, Pakistan ranked on the seventh position of the 'most vulnerable countries to climate change' (German Watch, 2017). This position entails numerous salient features, such as frequent extreme weather events, rise in sea levels, potential melting of glaciers, erratic patterns of temperature and precipitation. All these are forecasted to impact crop productivity coupled with economic instability, climate induced health hazards and increased pressure on resources. The most prominent impact of climate change is expected to be on the agriculture and fisheries sectors (IPCC, 2012).

This current research essentially focuses on evidence from past studies, data on agricultural production, temperature, precipitation and tropospheric ozone in particular will be analysed; thus, verifying the relationship between change in climatic variables, and/or pollutant (tropospheric ozone) concentration, degree and measure of change in yield. Long term historical crop yield data from the PBS, data of temperature and precipitation retrieved from Pakistan Metrological Department, whereas tropospheric ozone concentration inventory (satellite based) over Pakistan will be collated from past researches undertaken in IESE – NUST. This will allow the exploration of the relationship between both the individual and synergistic climate and pollutant variables against historical crop yield. Thus, allowing the calculation of thresholds, and change in crop productivity in the presence of observed climate change and tropospheric ozone concentrations.

1.2. Study Area

The regions under study are the wheat, rice and cotton growing districts of Punjab & Sindh as depicted in Fig 1.1. These crops are mainly divided into two seasons of cultivation. *Kharif,* (summer crops), and *Rabi* (winter crops). 16.68 million hectares of the province of Punjab is under cultivation; contributing to 83% cotton, 76 % rice (97% of fine aromatic Basmati), and 80% wheat in the agriculture economy (GoP, 2018). Whereas, the total cropped area of Sindh amounts to 3.10 million



Figure 1.1: Study area map, districts under study are denoted with a star.

hectares. Of the total output in Pakistan, Sindh produces 35% of the rice, 12% of wheat, and 20% of the cotton (USDA, 2015). The two provinces are primarily divided into three climatic zones namely Mild Cold, Dry & Hot, and Arid to Hyper-arid (Qasim *et al.*, 2014, Haider *et al.*, 2016). The diversity in the climate allows a number of crops to be cultivated, across different districts and months. This diversity also entails varied conditions, and response to stressors.

1.3. Justification for Selection of Study

As stated in the previous section, Pakistan is highly vulnerable to the effects of climate change. The evidence is clear from the greater frequency of extreme events such as 2010 flooding, 2015 heat waves, unpredictable rainfall patterns, glacial melting, etc. The inconsistency and deviation of climate variables from the norm, presents a problem, especially for a country that although termed an agrarian economy, predominantly falls in the arid and semi-arid category. Thus, temperature and rainfall play a critical role in the behaviour of agricultural production.

Along with climate variables the study also assesses the effect of air pollution on agriculture, specifically tropospheric ozone. Tropospheric ozone is a pervasive secondary air pollutant, it occurs when carbon monoxide, oxides of nitrogen, methane, along with non-methane volatile organic compounds, react in the atmosphere in the presence of sunlight. It contributes to the greenhouse gas effect, with a forcing of approximately 24% that of carbon dioxide (Ramaswamy *et al.*, 2001). Rapid growth in anthropogenic emissions as a result of development (industry, vehicular emissions) has been largely responsible for the surge in tropospheric ozone. Coupled to its ability to contribute to change in climate, it is notorious in its impact to crop health and productivity (W.L. Chameide *et al.*, 1999).

It is therefore, of paramount importance that the impact of both climate change and air pollutants such as tropospheric ozone is examined with respect to crop yield in Pakistan. Additionally, explore the synergetic effect of the two, allowing a contribution to the base of knowledge, on which future policies and adaptive strategies can be designed.

1.4. Relevance of proposed study to national needs

When conducting research, it is important to identify the relevance and gaps it will fill, in the face of national needs. Enlisted below are identified requirements:

- "Pakistan is a major rice exporter and annually exports about 2 million tons, or about 10 percent of world trade" (Abdul Rehman *et al.*, 2015). Impacts on crop yield due to pollution or climate change may impact the country's ability to do so; proper knowledge is crucial.
- 2. Pakistan is generally classified as arid to semi-arid, due to the insufficiency in rainfall for growth of agricultural crops (FAO). Therefore, in order for profitable agricultural production supplemental water is required, through irrigation or water harvesting. Erratic weather patterns, may impact the supply of both ample rain and irrigation supplies.
- 3. Pakistan's population is growing at a high rate (Pakistan Bureau of Statistics), and food insecurity is a major concern (FAO, 2015). In order to ensure that the food production and population gap remains narrow.
- Rural economy is heavily dependent upon agriculture, both directly & indirectly (PSRP, 2013).

- 5. In spite of high prices for agri-products, the profitability has not improved in this sector as costs of production continue to rise. Leading to a lack of facilities for small farmers (PSRP II, 2016). Further stress, especially on small farmers may prove detrimental.
- 6. "Low yields, low productivity of water, non-reliability of water services, underperformance of rural factor markets and under-investment in research and technology development" (PRSP, 2003) are all major issues facing Pakistan's agriculture sector. This research can aid in the opening of the proposed uncertainties, to ensure timely forecasts.

1.5.Significance of Study

The results of the study will impact the following aspects:

- Agriculture 47% of the national employed labour force, and contributes 24 % of the gross domestic product (FAO, 2015). Thus, understanding the future prospects of future crop productivity is essential.
- 2. This study will highlight the crucial effects of tropospheric ozone and climate change on crop productivity in various major agriculture districts of Pakistan.
- 3. It will forecast crop behaviour in order to monitor changes and suggest interventions.
- 4. Considering the growing population and development of Pakistan and the continued high levels of air pollution, this study will substantiate the urgency of air pollution abatement strategies.
- 5. The results will enable policy-makers and decision-makers to design relevant adaptation and mitigation strategies, especially to create awareness/ train farmers.
- 6. Further it will aid in setting a precedent for other studies.

1.6 Objectives:

- 1. To identify & assess the change in climate variables (temperature and precipitation) in Pakistan.
- 2. To investigate plausible impacts of climate change variables on agriculture crop productivity in Pakistan.
- 3. To explore the linkage between climate change, tropospheric ozone and crop productivity.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1. Climate change

Climate change is generally defined as 'change in the statistical distribution of weather patterns, when that change lasts for an extended period of time.' Climate has been changing continuously throughout Earth's history (NASA, 2018). The system operates in presence of numerous natural and anthropogenic interactions (see, figure 2.1). The current warming trend is peculiar in its nature as it is extremely likely (95 percentile) the result of human activity with the advent of mid-twentieth century, moreover the warming is proceeding at a relentless rate (NASA, 2018).



Figure 2.1: Components & interactions of a climatic system (Source: IPCC, 2007)

The Fifth Assessment report of IPCC (AR5), reports that despite the global efforts of reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, the level of GHGs in the atmosphere continue to increase exponentially. Within the 21st century, global

climate models suggest a rise of 0.3 °C to 1.7°C (low emission scenario), and

2.6°C to 4.8°C (emission intensive scenario).

The AR5 introduced scenarios known as Representation Concentration Pathways (RCPs), which proceed the SRES. As the name suggests the RCPs represent a varied range of probable future-settings in terms of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions globally (Table 2.1).

 Table 2.1: Detailed description of IPCC's Representative Concentration

 Pathways

Name	Radiative Forcing in 2100	Pathway	Behaviour of GHG emissions Globally (measured in CO ₂ equivalents/year)
2.6	2.6 Wm ²	Peak and decline	Emission peaks between 2010– 2020, with a decline substantially thereafter
4.5	4.5 Wm ²	Stabilization without overshoot	Emission peak around 2040, then decline
6.0	6 Wm ²	Stabilization without overshoot	Emissions peak by 2080, then decline.
8.5	8.5 Wm ²	Rising	Emissions carry on rising all through the 21st century

Source: Meinshausen, M.; et al. (2011), IPCC (2015)

This particular study works with RCP 4.5 (stabilization scenario), and 8.5 (extreme scenario), the details are as below:

(i) RCP 4.5 as mentioned in Table 2.1 is the stabilization scenario. Within this scenario the accumulative radiative forcing levels off soon after 2100; as it peaks mid-century 2040 – 2050 (50% higher than 2000 levels), after which it begins to descend. It remains within the limits of the "long-run radiative forcing target level" (Smith& Wigley 2006, Wise *et al.*, 2009).

Carbon dioxide concentration stays on trend to approximately 520 ppm (by 2070), continuing to increase, rather sluggishly. The scenario works on the basis of a model capturing a state of moderate population, economic growth, and

energy consumption (fairly constant petroleum consumption) throughout the century. Coupled with a significantly declining crop land area, and increasing reforested natural vegetation.

(ii) RCP 8.5 is categorized as a 'worst-case' scenario, with growing greenhouse gas emissions throughout the century, especially in early and mid - 21st century (Riahi *et al.* 2007). CO₂ concentration in the atmosphere will rapidly reach 950 ppm by the 2100 mark tipping into the next century, with a similar pattern. The RCP 8.5 scenario embodies a high population growth, unbalanced economic growth with considerably lower incomes, and GDP in less developed countries. It describes a high consumption of energy (3 times current levels); with intensive use of oil (until 2070) and coal (bulk contribution). Land use carry on existing trends with increasing crop areas, and depleting forested areas.

Less developed nations such as Pakistan are relatively more susceptible to the damaging impacts of climate change compared to developed countries (IPCC, 2013). According to Asian Development Bank's 2017 report on climate change in Pakistan, the yearly rainfall has shown unpredictability historically, however the last five decades show a relative increase. The number of heatwave days per year has increased 5-folds in the past 30 years. Annually, the mean temperature is estimated to grow by 3 to 5 degrees for stabilizing scenarios (RCP 4.5). Whereas, for scenarios with high powered global emissions (RCP 8.5), the rise could be up to 4 to 5°C. Annual rainfall on average is expected to continue to exhibit inter-annual variability, however a long-term trend cannot be captured. By the conclusion of this century the sea-level is predicted to rise a further 60 centimetres, likely affecting low-lying coastal areas and the Indus delta.

Pakistan is expected to experience increased variability of river flows resulting from increased unpredictability of precipitation and glacial melting. Furthermore, irrigation water demand may increase, from higher evaporation rates. Future temperature projections show a warming trend of 1.5 to 5 °C rise in temperature by the end of the 21^{st} century (Haider *et al.*, 2016).

2.2. Impact of climate change on agricultural crop productivity

Climate plays a pivotal role in the growth and total productivity of crops. Each crop has certain threshold or requirement of climatic conditions, in which they optimally grow. Thus, change in the temperature, precipitation, humidity, solar radiation can affect the crop sowing and harvesting dates, the duration of growing season, and overall yield and health of the crops (Iqbal *et al.*, 2009).

Demand for food crops is expected to approximately double globally, towards the mid -21^{st} century. This is mainly due to the growth in population, and a gradual shift to westernized diets even in the developing countries. Regardless of the upkeep of the agricultural productivity with advancement in technology, better varieties of seeds, and policy measures, future productivity may still face decline due to sensitivity to both air pollution and climate change.

Various major crops can be damaged due to extremes in average temperature. Agricultural regions are projected to respond differently to change in climate, with some areas experiencing an increase in crop yields, whilst others a decrease. This may be attributed to the latitude, agro climatic conditions and irrigation application system (Kang *et al.*, 2009, Hussain & Bangash 2017). Likewise, different stages of crop growth may also react differently to change in climatic conditions (Siddiqui *et al.*, 2016).

10

This change in conditions not only threatens the ample food supply but also impacts the agricultural farm revenues Rise in temperature and rainfall have converse impacts on agricultural revenues; positively with respect to rainfall and negatively with temperature (Shakoor *et al.*, 2011). Thus, largely past studies conclude and emphasize, the need for adaption and mitigation measures to enhance the pros and avoid the cons of change in climate.

2.3. Tropospheric Ozone & its impact on productivity of crops

Tropospheric Ozone is a secondary pollutant that forms as a result of precursory emissions, mainly NOx, NMVOCs, CO and CH₄. According to US Environmental Protection Agency, tropospheric ozone is one of the criteria pollutants; leading to harmful impacts on human & plant health (Chameides *et al.*, 1999). Surface ozone, arising from precursor emissions from anthropogenic activities, is phytotoxic and thus detrimental to crop productivity (Tai *et al.*, 2014). It continues to become a major cause of concern globally due to increase in precursor emission, and proceeding photochemical oxidation (Klumpp *et al.*, 2006). In terms of plants/ crops tropospheric ozone (Delfino *et al.*, 1998, Wahid, 2006, Rai & Agarwal 2012):

- i. Reduces photosynthesis, along with decreased stomatal conductance and response.
- ii. Slow the plant's growth: By decreased biomass accumulation, altered reproduction, carbon allocation and overall quality
- iii. Alteration of leaf senescence, and chemical composition.
- iv. Increase sensitive plants' risk to disease, pest attacks, impact of other plants& changing climatic conditions.

v. Below-ground (soil): altered litter production & decomposition. Impacting the nutrient cycling.

Simplified Formation of Tropospheric Ozone (Lagzi et al., 2013)

 Nitrous Oxide synthesises in an internal combustion engine (Pressure & Temperature):

$$N_2 + O_2 \rightarrow 2NO$$

2. Oxidation of nitrous oxide to nitrogen oxide:

$$2NO + O_2 \rightarrow 2NO_2$$

3. Decomposition of nitrogen oxide by UV:

$$NO_2 + UV \text{ light (240 nm)} \rightarrow NO + O$$

4. The activated oxygen atom forms ozone molecule by attaching to a diatomic oxygen molecule:

$$0 + 0_2 \rightarrow 0_3$$

Agricultural production is globally affected by high concentrations of tropospheric ozone. Rural areas experience elevated ozone levels for longer periods, potentially causing a wide variety of damage to various ecosystems. This results in a notable decrease in crop yields, especially in crops harvested in the winter (Wang et al., 2005; Mills et al., 2007). Estimates suggest that the range of relative loss in yield currently amount from 7–12 % to 36 - 50% in other areas for wheat, and 3–4 % for rice; 90 per cent of these losses have been

reported to be the direct effect of air pollutants (specifically ozone precursors) (Wilkinson *et al.*, 2012, Tai *et al.*, 2014, Burney & Ramathan 2014).

2.4. Conclusion

Various different techniques have been applied over the years to represent the impact of air pollutants and climate variables both qualitatively and quantitatively. It is quite evident from the literature that tropospheric ozone has detrimental impact on plant health and productivity, whereas change in climate variables may positively or negatively impact different climatic zones and plants. Some crops are primarily sensitive to either ozone (e.g. cotton) or heat (e.g. maize). Therefore, future food production is at risk to both drastic changes in climate and air pollution with direct repercussions for global food security. In Pakistan, there is a dearth of studies exploring climate variables, and tropospheric ozone on crop productivity, especially using statistical models, which utilize actual observed production, climate and tropospheric ozone panel data.

The current study attempts to quantify the change in climate variables specifically in districts of Sindh and Punjab within wheat, rice and cotton crop growing season, furthering into the climate scenarios of representative concentration pathways 4.5 and 8.5. It explores the exact impact of average temperature and average precipitation on the crop productivity using an econometric regression model, with the help of historical observed data. Followed by identification of vulnerable crop growing regions. Providing the basis of impact quantification and thresholds for management of these major crops.

Chapter 3: Materials and Methodology

3.1.General Methodology

Climate data over the study area, specifically, variables temperature and precipitation, have been structured to the averaged growing season of the crops wheat, rice and cotton. Mainly focusing on the decade 2006 - 2016, in comparison to the baseline created over the years 1978 - 2005.

Furthermore, projections under the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report's representative concentration pathways 4.5 and 8.5 were also assessed and compared to observed data. Decadal change was measured till the end of the century, with respect to baseline.

Under the second objective, crop productivity data over districts of Sindh and Punjab was analysed. Including time-series and percentage relative change over the years. To explore the impact of temperature and precipitation on the historical production data a multivariate regression model was run. Similarly, tropospheric ozone data from 2005 - 2016 time-series data was analysed and run against crop productivity data, along with the temperature and precipitation variables.

3.2.Climate data

There were two different types of climate data (temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm)) that was utilized in the study:

i) Pakistan Meteorological Department Observatory Data:

Monthly Station-wise data from PMD weather stations across the study area, over the period of 1978 - 2016.

ii) Pakistan Meteorological Department Projected Model Data

The projected data acquired included a baseline period (1975 – 2005), along with forecasted data under the RCP 4.5 and 8.5 scenarios stretching from the year 2010 to 2100. The temperature and precipitation data used in this specific study has been statistically downscaled to a resolution of 25 km. The projections were made by the Numerical Modelling group of Research and Development Division, PMD, Islamabad, Pakistan using the 'Community Climate System Model', version 4 (CCSM4), under the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (AR5).

The obtained raw data were arranged according to districts specific to the crops under study (Wheat, Rice and Cotton) using the 'Agriculture Cropping Pattern – Pakistan' mapped by FAO – ERCU Pakistan, 2012. The average crop growing season (months) were extracted from the total temperature and precipitation data using the crop calendar (FAO, 2012).

District	Cultivation Dates	Growing Season	Harvest Dates
Faisalabad	May – Mid June	May – November	August to November
Bahawalnagar	May – Mid June	May – November	August to November
Multan	May – Mid June	May – November	August to November
Bahawalpur	May – Mid June	May – November	August to November
Hyderabad	April to May	April – November	August to November
Badin	April to May	April – November	August to November
S. Benazir Abad	May – Mid June	May – November	August to November

Table 3.1: District-wise Crop Calendar for Cotton Crop

Tab	ole 3.2:	District -	wise Cr	op Cal	lendar f	for R	ice C	rop
-----	----------	-------------------	---------	--------	----------	-------	-------	-----

District	Cultivation Dates	Growing Season	Harvest Dates
Sialkot	June	June – November	October – November
Faisalabad	June	June – November	October – November
Bahawalnagar	June	June – November	October – November
Lahore	June	June – November	October – November
Bahawalpur	June	June – November	October – November
Multan	June	June – November	October – November
Jacobabad	Mid May - June	May – March	March

S. Benazir Abad	Mid May - June	May – March	March
Badin	May – Mid June	May – September	August - September
Hyderabad	May – Mid June	May – September	August - September

District	Cultivation Dates	Growing Season	Harvest Dates
Jhelum	November-December	November – April	April
Lahore	November-December	November – April	April
Faisalabad	November-December	November – April	April
Bahawalnagar	November-December	November – April	April
Sialkot	November-December	November – April	April
Multan	November-December	November – April	April
Bahawalpur	November-December	November – April	April
Hyderabad	November-December	November – March	March
Jacobabad	November-December	November – April	March–April
S. Benazir Abad	November-December	November – April	March–April
Badin	November-December	November – March	March

Table 3.3: District-wise Crop Calendar for Wheat Crop

3.3. Mann Kendall Trend Test

MK test allows a statistical perspective whether a trend is present in a timeseries. The null hypothesis states; there is no trend, and alternative states there is a visible trend. This test is applied to all the variables assessed.

3.4. Error Analysis for Climate Model (CCSM4)

Error Analysis was conducted on the output of the CCSM4 model projections and observed real-time data for the time period of 1978 – 2005.

The average analysis included calculation of Root Mean Square Error and Mean

Average Error. Below are the equations for the analysis respectively:

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n}} \sum_{i}^{n} (T_{(model)i} - T_{(observation)t})^{2}$$

MAE =
$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |T_{(model)i} - T_{(observation)t}|$$

'n' represents the number of observations.

Additionally, Mean Bias was calculated to gauge whether there is over/under estimation in the model output.

$$MB = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i}^{n} (T_{(model)i} - T_{(observation)t})$$

If Mean Bias is negative, then the model is underestimating the values, in the case of a positive MB the model overestimates the values. Climatological mean for both temperature and precipitation over the time period 1978 - 2005 was mapped using Arc Map 10.3.1, under crop specific seasons.

3.5. Crop Productivity

Datasets for crop yield (kg) and cultivated area (hectares) over the study area was acquired from Pakistan Bureau of Statistics, and Directorate of Agriculture, Crop reporting Service, Punjab. For the following years:

- i) Wheat, Rice & Cotton Crop Growing Districts of Punjab: 1981 2016
- ii) Wheat, Rice & Cotton Crop Growing District of Sindh: 1981 2013

The regression model was run on pooled Punjab & Sindh districts, as well as separately according to agro-climatic zones:

 Table 3.4: Climatic Zones of Punjab and Sindh (Salma et al. (2012))

Zone	Climate	Major Cities/Districts
В	Mild Cold	Lahore, Sialkot, Jhelum
D	Dry And Hot	Bahawalpur, Bahawalnagar, Multan,
		Faisalabad, Jacobabad
E	Arid to Hyper Arid	Hyderabad, Shaheed Benazir Abad, Badin

Prior to the computation of the impact of climate variables on crop productivity, data was fine-tuned by estimating missing data, using nearest neighbour method, and following tests were run to identify the reliability of data and specificity of the model to be used to undertake the analysis.

3.5.1. Harris-Tzavalis Unit Root Test

Test used for balanced datasets, showing whether there is a systematic pattern that is unpredictable in the series; a possible presence of a unit root.

H₀: Panels contains unit root

H_a: Panels are stationary

3.5.2. Pearson's Chi-Squared Test

Pearson's chi-squared test tests the freedom of variables, whether the relationship between two variables is significant. The null hypothesis of this test states that variables are independent of each other and any correlation is due to chance.

3.5.3. Ramsey Test

To test the specification of the model. The null hypothesis states that there is no misspecification in the model.

3.5.4. Haussmann Test:

Haussmann test checks the endogeneity of the data, that is whether the error term are correlated with the observed variables. The H_0 assumes that the favoured model is Random Effect (Green, 2008). Thus, it aids in selecting the correct model for the regression of the panel data in question, i.e. Fixed or Random Effect Model. Values less than 0.05 indicate that fixed is the correct choice, rejecting the null hypothesis (Torres-Reyna, 2007).

3.5.5. Fixed & Random Effects Model

Fixed effects essentially explores the relationship between predictor (independent) variable, and outcome (dependent) variables within an entity, in this case districts/zone. It eliminates the influence of time invariant features so we can assess the overall effect of the 'observed variables' on the dependent variable (Torres-Reyna, 2007). In contrast to the fixed-effects model, random effects assumes that disparity across entities is randomized and uncorrelated with the observed variables included.

Regression Model Overview

To carry out the impact exploration of climate and pollution variables on crop productivity, a multivariate econometric model was used; fixed/random effects.

$Y_{it} = \alpha_i + \beta_1(T) + \beta_2(P) + \epsilon_{it}$	Model I
$Y_{it} = \alpha_i + \beta_1(T) + \beta_2(P) + \beta_3(T^2) + \epsilon_{it}$	Model II
$Y_{it} = \alpha_i + \beta_1(T) + \beta_2(P) + \beta_3(P^2) \epsilon_{it}$	Model III
$Y_{it} = \alpha_i + \beta_1(T) + \beta_2(P) + \beta_3(O) + \epsilon_{it}$	Model IV

where,

 α_i Constant term.

 Y_{it} = Productivity in the *i*th district for time period *t* (kg/hectare).

 β : Measures the dependence of productivity on the climate variables.

T: Averaged temperature for crop growing season.

P: Average precipitation for crop growing season.

O: Average tropospheric ozone for crop growing season.

 ϵ_{it} : Error terms.

3.6. Tropospheric Ozone

Global monthly mean tropospheric ozone columns captured during the time period 2005 - 2016, are assessed. Tropospheric ozone columns are derived by using tropospheric ozone residual (TOR) method; on the combined product of OMI and MLS datasets (Noreen *et al.*, 2018).

Tropospheric ozone column is extracted by subtracting the stratospheric ozone column (SCO) from MLS from total ozone column retrieved by OMI.

$$TOC = TCO - SCO$$

The data obtained were in Dobson Unit where:

$$1 \text{ DU of } \text{TO}_3 = 1.53 \text{ ppb of } \text{TO}_3 \text{ (IPCC, 2013)}$$

For use in this study the columns were converted to concentrations using the formula above, over the selected study areas in wheat, rice and cotton crop growing months.

Sr no.	Software	Purpose
1	MS Excel	Refining raw data, creating time-series and graphical representations of data.
2	XLSTAT	Assessment of trends in time-series.
3	Arc Map 10.3.1 (ESRI, 2015)	Generation of climate maps.
4	Stata SE 14 (STATACorp., 2015)	Statistical modelling and diagnostic testing of data

3.7 Methodology Flow Chart



Figure 3.1: Detailed diagram of work plan

Chapter 4: Results & Discussion

4.1. Temporal analysis of average temperature and precipitation within wheat, rice and cotton growing season in selected climatic zones of Punjab & Sindh

Assessing the climate through the decade of 2006 - 2016, with respect to baseline period (1978 – 2005); the observed data from weather stations across the study area, was collated and divided into climatic zones (see methodology). Figures 4.1-4.3, are the climate graphs depicting the average temperature and precipitation over the specific crop growing



Figure 4.1: Zonal Average Climate in Wheat Crop Growing Season



Figure 4.2: Zonal Average Climate in Rice Crop Growing Season



Figure 4.3: Zonal Average Climate in Cotton Crop Growing Season

The results show high inter-annual variability within precipitation trends in all zones, whereas temperature remains steady (with slight fluctuation). Mann Kendall Trend test validates this analysis; >0.05 p-value for precipitation, whereas for temperature p-value is <0.05 (see, Annexure for details).

The bars show the average precipitation, and line graphs show average temperature. Zone B (Upper Punjab) shows the greatest amount of precipitation received in wheat crop growing seasons, followed by Zone D (southern Punjab and Upper Sindh) and finally the lowest recorded precipitation falls in the Zone E category (Lower Sindh). In comparison temperature showed an inverse trend with Zone E having the highest followed by Zone D (19.26°C), and Zone B at (17.84°C). The average temperature in all 3 zones over the study period was 19.56°C; with a minimum of 17.7 and maximum of 23.0degrees centigrade. The precipitation was on average 14.88mm, with a minimum of 0.08mm and maximum of 69.5 mm. Similar trends were obtained in rice crop season. The average temperature in rice growing season overall in the three climatic zones

was 29.13°C, with a minimum of 27.7, and maximum of 30.6°C. Whereas, average precipitation was 46.7mm, the highest average precipitation was recorded at 150.6mm, and a minimum of 10.1 mm. Cotton growing districts selected for our region mainly fall in zones D & E (south), similar trends of precipitation and trends were recorded, as for the other crop seasons. Mean temperature over the study period was 30.57°C, with a maximum of 31.6°C. The mean precipitation over cotton growing season amounted to 23.29mm, with a minimum of 8.28, and a maximum of 68.82.

Overall, temperature has an increasing trend whereas, precipitation has interannual variability i.e. no distinct trend in all climatic zones, as illustrated by the Mann Kendall Trend Test Results.

4.2. Absolute Change in Precipitation and Temperature in Crop Growing Season

This section outlines the change observed in temperature and precipitation in years 2006 - 2016 in detail, in comparison to the baseline period defined as 1978 – 2005 (Tables 4.1 – 4.6). The change over the years has been tumultuous, especially so in terms of rainfall events. Assessing the overall temperature trend there is a predominant increase relative to the baseline years (Haider *et al.*, 2017). Conversely, the precipitation showed a relative decrease in all crop seasons (Chaudhary, 2017), compared to base period; approximately 8 out of 10 cropping seasons showed a negative record. The highlighted cells in proceeding tables illustrate this.
District Name	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
					Zone B						
Jhelum	<mark>-4.7</mark>	15.0	8.2	<mark>-6.6</mark>	<mark>-24.5</mark>	<mark>-51.2</mark>	<mark>-35.2</mark>	13.1	17.5	17.6	8.6
Lahore	<mark>-3.2</mark>	12.9	<mark>-9.5</mark>	9.4	<mark>-34.5</mark>	<mark>-29.7</mark>	<mark>-32.6</mark>	<mark>-2.5</mark>	15.6	29.8	<mark>-12.3</mark>
Sialkot	<mark>-19.6</mark>	12.3	0.6	<mark>-9.6</mark>	<mark>-28.2</mark>	<mark>-55.9</mark>	<mark>-18.3</mark>	21.2	5.9	58.9	<mark>-7.3</mark>
					Zone D						
Bahawalnagar	<mark>-2.0</mark>	3.3	<mark>-5.9</mark>	3.9	<mark>-2.9</mark>	<mark>-4.9</mark>	<mark>-3.2</mark>	15.9	10.32	10.2	<mark>-3.1</mark>
Bahawalpur	3.5	<mark>-0.9</mark>	<mark>-6.1</mark>	0.8	<mark>-2.5</mark>	<mark>-11.1</mark>	<mark>-6.6</mark>	6.8	0.1	16.1	1.2
Faisalabad	1.8	<mark>-0.1</mark>	<mark>-17.5</mark>	0.7	<mark>-12.9</mark>	<mark>-23.1</mark>	<mark>-5.6</mark>	5.8	6.0	24.8	<mark>-1.6</mark>
Jacobabad	6.6	10.9	15.1	4.6	<mark>-5.8</mark>	<mark>-3.9</mark>	<mark>-2.4</mark>	8.6	0.3	15.5	<mark>-3.0</mark>
Multan	5.2	13.8	8.9	4.2	<mark>-1.8</mark>	<mark>-11.7</mark>	<mark>-2.4</mark>	8.3	1.1	9.6	6.7
					Zone E						
Badin	<mark>-1.2</mark>	<mark>-3.1</mark>	4.5	<mark>-3.0</mark>	2.2	<mark>-1.2</mark>	2.1	0.00	0.00	1.5	0.2
Hyderabad	5.9	13.0	<mark>-1.2</mark>	<mark>-1.8</mark>	<mark>-7.1</mark>	<mark>-3.9</mark>	<mark>-0.5</mark>	<mark>-5.6</mark>	<mark>0.00</mark>	<mark>-0.5</mark>	<mark>-2.8</mark>
S.Benazirabad	5.0	1.8	4.9	1.7	<mark>-7.8</mark>	<mark>-0.2</mark>	<mark>-3.9</mark>	6.5	0.4	1.0	0.2

Table 4.1: Change in Precipitation (mm) in Wheat Growing Districts of Punjab & Sindh; Baseline (1978-2005)

Table 4.2: Change in Precipitation (mm) Rice Growing Districts ofPunjab & Sindh; Baseline (1978-2005)

District Name	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
				Z	one B						
Jhelum	56.5	<mark>-28.3</mark>	<mark>-2. 9</mark>	<mark>-47.7</mark>	13.0	7.5	<mark>-16.1</mark>	13.3	<mark>-10.0</mark>	<mark>-11.6</mark>	3.0
Lahore	15.5	<mark>-12.0</mark>	<mark>-6.2</mark>	<mark>-48.6</mark>	<mark>-6.3</mark>	110.2	<mark>-10.4</mark>	40.9	15.7	9.8	29.2
Sialkot	<mark>-11.7</mark>	<mark>-33.1</mark>	23.4	<mark>-39.0</mark>	15.0	<mark>-13.0</mark>	<mark>-32.9</mark>	63.2	56.7	<mark>-36.9</mark>	<mark>-9.2</mark>
				Z	one D						
Bahawalnagar	<mark>-10.4</mark>	11.0	<mark>-4.2</mark>	10.6	0.2	44.2	15.5	7.4	<mark>-2.6</mark>	45.0	0.6
Bahawalpur	<mark>-3.9</mark>	3.6	<mark>-0.3</mark>	<mark>-4.5</mark>	4.4	13.1	5.0	<mark>-3.0</mark>	<mark>-13.3</mark>	44.7	<mark>-9.2</mark>
Faisalabad	7.4	<mark>-6.1</mark>	30.9	9.7	37.9	47.3	<mark>-0.4</mark>	<mark>-1.3</mark>	7.0	17.8	2.1
Jacobabad	<mark>-0.7</mark>	5.9	10.6	<mark>-8.1</mark>	8.6	19.9	40.9	21.1	<mark>-10.3</mark>	<mark>-0.2</mark>	<mark>-8.4</mark>
Multan	<mark>-16.3</mark>	<mark>-4.2</mark>	<mark>-11.9</mark>	<mark>-12.3</mark>	20.2	<mark>-3.7</mark>	8.4	<mark>-4.2</mark>	<mark>-1.9</mark>	23.4	<mark>-1.6</mark>
				Z	one E						
Badin	33.9	<mark>-9.2</mark>	<mark>-5.1</mark>	11.7	22.7	120.9	<mark>-5.9</mark>	<mark>-17.7</mark>	<mark>-21.4</mark>	12.6	<mark>-5.7</mark>
Hyderabad	63.7	7.1	<mark>-4.9</mark>	12.7	14.6	<mark>-13.1</mark>	<mark>-7.1</mark>	<mark>-2.0</mark>	<mark>-23.1</mark>	5.4	5.8
S.Benazirabad	15.6	8.5	<mark>-2.8</mark>	<mark>-3.9</mark>	24.6	50.3	<mark>3.0</mark>	<mark>-3.9</mark>	<mark>-8.8</mark>	<mark>-2.2</mark>	<mark>-0.5</mark>

Table 4.3: Change in Precipitation (mm) in Cotton Growing Districts of Punjab & Sindh; Baseline (1978 – 2005)

District Name	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016		
Zone D													
Bahawalnagar													
	<mark>-10.0</mark>	7.8	<mark>-0.3</mark>	6.7	<mark>-1.2</mark>	38.3	12.2	5.1	0.2	35.5	3.1		
Bahawalpur													
	<mark>-4.7</mark>	<mark>1.7</mark>	<mark>-1.5</mark>	<mark>-4.6</mark>	4.1	8.1	6.6	<mark>-4.2</mark>	<mark>-8.9</mark>	40.7	<mark>-9.0</mark>		
Multan													
	<mark>-16.4</mark>	<mark>-6.0</mark>	<mark>-12.4</mark>	<mark>-13.3</mark>	15.2	<mark>-3.9</mark>	<mark>5.1</mark>	<mark>-5.5</mark>	6.5	19.2	<mark>-3.8</mark>		
				Z	Zone E								
Badin													
	20.4	<mark>-6.6</mark>	<mark>-6.0</mark>	3.6	16.0	66.0	<mark>-3.8</mark>	<mark>-9.9</mark>	<mark>-12.6</mark>	4.1	<mark>-4.4</mark>		
Hyderabad													
	40.3	2.2	<mark>-3.4</mark>	5.8	7.4	<mark>-10.4</mark>	<mark>-5.2</mark>	<mark>-1.9</mark>	<mark>-15.9</mark>	<mark>-0.6</mark>	4.4		
S.Benazirabad													
	18.2	10.5	<mark>-10.4</mark>	<mark>-6.5</mark>	30.5	85.6	<mark>7.5</mark>	<mark>-8.2</mark>	<mark>-12.1</mark>	<mark>-2.7</mark>	1.9		

Table 4.4: Change in Precipitation (mm) in Cotton Growing Districts of Punjab & Sindh; Baseline (1978-2005)

District Name	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
				Z	lone B						
Lahore	<mark>1.5</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>1.5</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.8	-0.8	-1.5	-0.3	<mark>0.7</mark>
Sialkot	<mark>1.4</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>1.3</mark>	<mark>1.8</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	-0.1	<mark>0.1</mark>	<mark>-0.6</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>1.3</mark>
				Z	lone D						
Bahawalnagar	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>1.2</mark>	<mark>0.6</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>1.6</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	-0.2	<mark>0.2</mark>	-0.3	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>1.5</mark>
Bahawalpur	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>0.0</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	<mark>0.1</mark>	-0.5	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.5	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>
Faisalabad	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>0.7</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.3	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.5	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>1.4</mark>
Jacobabad	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	-0.1	-0.5	<mark>0.0</mark>	-0.9	-0.6	<mark>0.7</mark>
Multan	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	-0.2	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>1.2</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	-0.3	<mark>0.1</mark>	-0.5	-0.2	<mark>1.1</mark>
				Z	Cone E						
Badin	<mark>1.4</mark>	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>1.2</mark>	<mark>1.2</mark>	<mark>1.6</mark>	<mark>0.7</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>2.5</mark>
Hyderabad	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.0</mark>	-0.5	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	-0.2	-1.3	-0.6	-0.2	-0.6	<mark>0.9</mark>
S.Benazirabad	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	-1.0	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.1</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>1.8</mark>

Table 4.5: Change in Temperature (°C) Rice Growing Districts of Punjab & Sindh; Baseline (1978-2005)

District Name	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
	ı		1	Zc	ne B						
Jhelum	<mark>1.3</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>0.7</mark>	<mark>1.3</mark>	<mark>0.1</mark>	-0.2	-0.1	-0.8	-0.1	<mark>0.6</mark>
Lahore	<mark>1.5</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>1.5</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.8	-0.8	-1.5	-0.3	<mark>0.7</mark>
Sialkot	<mark>1.4</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>1.3</mark>	<mark>1.8</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	-0.1	<mark>0.1</mark>	<mark>-0.6</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>1.3</mark>
				Zo	ne D						
Bahawalnagar	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>1.2</mark>	<mark>0.6</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>1.6</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	-0.2	<mark>0.2</mark>	-0.3	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>1.5</mark>
Bahawalpur	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>0.0</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	<mark>0.1</mark>	-0.5	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.5	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>
Faisalabad	1.1	<mark>0.7</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.3	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.5	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>1.4</mark>
Jacobabad	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	-0.1	-0.5	<mark>0.0</mark>	-0.9	-0.6	<mark>0.7</mark>
Multan	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	-0.2	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>1.2</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	-0.3	<mark>0.1</mark>	-0.5	-0.2	<mark>1.1</mark>
				Zo	one E						
Badin	<mark>1.4</mark>	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>1.2</mark>	<mark>1.2</mark>	<mark>1.6</mark>	<mark>0.7</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>1.1</mark>	<mark>2.5</mark>
Hyderabad	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.0</mark>	-0.5	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	-0.2	-1.3	-0.6	-0.2	-0.6	<mark>0.9</mark>
S.Benazirabad	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	-1.0	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.1</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>1.8</mark>

Table 4.6: Change in Temperature (°C) in Cotton Growing Districts ofPunjab & Sindh Baseline (1978-2005)

District Name	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016		
Zone D													
Bahawalnagar	iawalnagar												
_	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	-0.1	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	<mark>0.6</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	-0.1	<mark>1.4</mark>		
Bahawalpur													
	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4	<mark>0.7</mark>	0.0	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	-0.7	<mark>0.9</mark>		
Multan													
	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>0.4</mark>	<mark>0.7</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	-0.2	<mark>1.2</mark>		
				Z	one E								
Badin													
	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.8</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>	<mark>0.6</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>	<mark>0.5</mark>		
Hyderabad													
	-0.4	<mark>0.4</mark>	0.0	<mark>0.1</mark>	<mark>0.2</mark>	-0.4	-0.4	-0.3	-0.1	-0.2	-0.6		
S.Benazirabad													
	<mark>0.8</mark>	-0.3	-0.8	<mark>0.4</mark>	<mark>0.3</mark>	1.0	<mark>0.4</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.9</mark>	<mark>0.7</mark>	<mark>1.0</mark>		

The years 2010, 2011, and 2012 show the steepest dip in precipitation in wheat crop season (winter rain), in parallel the year 2010, 2011 showed highest rise in precipitation in rice & cotton cropping season (summer rain). This is mainly due to the presence of varying degrees of La Niña (strongest in 2010). La Niña brings a combination of rain patterns in the Indian sub-continent, with strong monsoon, and suppressed winter rainfall (Khan, 2004, Bhutto & Ming, 2013, Adnan *et al.* 2016). Similarly, 2009 shows a dominant decrease in precipitation in rice & cotton growing regions. This fall can be attributed to the presence of strong El Niño forces, which tend to supress the summer rainfall (Kumar *et al.* 2006, Adnan *et al.*, 2016).

Regardless, of the impact of ENSO pattern affecting the precipitation in Pakistan, the uncertainty remains as some years behave erroneously, despite the pattern in place (Park *et al.*, 2010, Bhutto & Ming, 2013). Inter-annual variability in weather in Pakistan is attributed to a number of factors including topography, winds – systems in the Bay of Bengal & Arabian Sea along with western disturbances in Mediterranean Sea, topped with indigenous climate (aridity) (Rodman E. Snead, 1968). Therefore, large climate anomalies occur as a result of local conditions, exasperated by the global teleconnections.

4.3. Error Analysis CCSM4 Climate Model with respect to Pakistan Meteorology Department Weather Station Observations (Period 1978 – 2005)

Error analysis is conducted in order to gauge the effectiveness of the model; how well can it predict. In this case reanalysis modelled data were compared to observed PMD weather station data.

District Name	Preci	pitation (m	m)	Temperature °C					
Error Analysis	RMSE	MAE	Bias	RMSE	MAE	Bias			
Bahawalnagar	19.53	11.88	-8.29	0.33	0.23	0.05			
Bahawalpur	7.63	5.31	-3.62	0.70	0.55	0.38			
Faisalabad	16.41	12.27	-12.42	0.40	0.30	0.24			
Multan	13.64	9.55	-8.92	0.35	0.21	0.16			
Badin	2.54	1.49	-0.04	0.79	0.69	0.66			
Hyderabad	5.54	2.15	-1.19	0.46	0.32	0.11			
Jacobabad	3.20	2.18	-0.68	0.45	0.39	0.40			
S. Benazir Abad	1.71	1.40	0.61	0.45	0.35	0.23			

 Table 4.7: Error Analysis of CCSM4 for Wheat Growing Season

Table 4.8: Error Analysis of CCSM4 for Rice Growing Season

District Name	Preci	pitation (m	m)	Temperature °C					
Error Analysis	RMSE	MAE	Bias	RMSE	MAE	Bias			
Bahawalnagar	16.97	10.76	-7.02	0.35	0.27	-0.03			
Bahawalpur	8.58	5.79	-4.01	0.51	0.43	0.35			
Faisalabad	18.80	13.82	-13.92	0.38	0.28	0.15			
Lahore	51.38	39.56	-37.62	0.86	0.81	-0.84			
Multan	14.83	10.35	-8.82	0.35	0.23	0.10			
Sialkot	56.53	43.58	-45.19	0.81	0.75	0.78			
Badin	14.83	9.16	-8.12	0.70	0.61	0.64			
Hyderabad	8.85	6.70	-6.00	0.40	0.31	-0.10			
S. Benazir Abad	8.20	5.96	-3.60	0.54	0.40	-0.13			

Table 4.9: Error	Analysis of	CCSM4 for	Cotton	Growing Season
------------------	-------------	-----------	--------	-----------------------

District Name	Preci	pitation (m	m)	Tem	perature °	С
Error Analysis	RMSE	MAE	Bias	RMSE	MAE	Bias
Bahawalnagar	6.74	5.02	-3.28	0.22	0.17	0.005
Bahawalpur	3.59	2.46	-2.11	0.95	0.91	0.95
Faisalabad	5.76	4.38	-3.23	0.53	0.49	0.50
Jhelum	10.36	7.38	-1.15	0.62	0.49	-0.48
Lahore	10.38	8.40	-8.34	1.10	1.06	-1.10
Multan	3.76	3.11	-1.62	0.58	0.46	0.48
Sialkot	8.55	6.88	-4.58	0.51	0.45	0.46
Badin	24.35	14.98	-12.74	0.67	0.60	0.62
Hyderabad	12.33	8.86	-7.73	0.64	0.42	-0.03
Jacobabad	9.91	6.53	-5.48	0.41	0.36	0.37
S. Benazir Abad	6.30	4.08	-2.80	0.55	0.36	0.08

	Precipitation	1		Temperature				
District Name	Wheat	Rice	Cotton	Wheat	Rice	Cotton		
Badin	0.46	0.82	0.82	0.66	0.59	0.63		
S. Benazir Abad	0.89	0.49	0.89	0.76	0.51	0.33		
Jacobabad	0.32	0.53	-	0.87	0.77	-		
Hyderabad	0.44	0.96	0.91	0.56	0.14	0.52		
Bahawalpur	0.76	0.78	0.78	0.89	0.47	0.42		
Bahawalnagar	0.38	0.68	0.72	0.92	0.57	0.73		
Faisalabad	0.80	0.71	0.73	0.92	0.49	0.71		
Lahore	0.80	0.61	-	0.89	0.62	-		
Sialkot	0.75	0.53	-	0.88	0.56	-		
Jhelum	0.67	-	-	0.76	-	-		
Multan	0.66	0.52	0.55	0.78	0.52	0.66		

 Table 4.10: Correlation (R²) Model Simulation of Reanalysis Data Vs

 PMD Station Observed Data

The error analysis as shown in Tables 4.7 - 4.9 show the accuracy of the model varies within districts and crop seasons. Districts with high errors are mainly due to anomalous projections in isolated years, impacting the overall error diagnosis. The bias calculation shows that the CCSM4 model tends to overestimate temperature and underestimate precipitation, with a few exceptions. The overall correlation (Table 4.10) between observed and projected data (1978–2005) shows an R² above 0.5–0.96, thus the capability of the model to perform is statistically satisfactory. Especially, in projection of temperature trends. Figure 4.4 cartographically represents the mean temperature and precipitation through 1978 – 2005, representing the reanalysis modelled and PMD observed values, as assessed through the error analysis.







Figure 4.4: Climatological Mean (1978 – 2005) (a) Wheat Crop Season; (b) Rice Crop Season; and (c) Cotton Crop Season. Model simulations represented by the background colours, while surface observations from PMD-Network for respective seasons are represented by the circles.

4.4. PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in comparison to CCSM4 Modelled under RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5 (Reference Period: 1978 – 2005)



Figure 4.5: PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to CCSM4 Modelled Data (Wheat – Zone B)







Figure 4.7: PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to CCSM4 Modelled Data (Wheat – Zone E)



	Lahore						2 250		Lah	ore					
(C) 32 32 12 10 22 10 20 22 10 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20								230 150 150 100 150	4	\wedge	>	\leq	_	Z	4
É 0	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	E v	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Observed	28.7	28.5	28.7	27.8	28.7	28.1	28.7	-Observed	83.5	200.0	79.4	130.7	105.5	99.6	118.9
	25.6	24.6	24.4	26.7	29.2	31.8	28.4	RCP 4.5	98.2	109.9	118.0	58.1	51.8	4.2	35.3
	26.0	25.5	28.2	28.8	27.0	28.0	26.4		36.3	41.8	40.6	18.6	23.3	67.0	166.6
Reference	28.6	28.6	28.6	28.6	28.6	28.6	28.6	— — Reference	89.8	89.8	89.8	89.8	89.8	89.8	89.8

Figure 4.8: PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to CCSM4 Modelled Data (Rice – Zone B)

£ 35		Mu	tan				
Temperature (°	2010	2011	2012	2012	2014	2015	2016
	2010	2011	2012	2015	2014	2015	2010
Observed	29.9	30.5	30.2	30.6	30.3	29.5	31.0
RCP 4.5	28.2	27.1	27.8	30.1	30.9	32.6	31.7
RCP 8.5	29.2	29.2	29.1	30.1	28.9	30.1	28.6
— — Reference	29.9	29.9	29.9	29.9	29.9	29.9	29.9



















Figure 4.10: PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to CCSM4 Modelled Data (Rice – Zone E)







Figure 4.11: PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to CCSM4 Modelled Data (Cotton – Zone D)





Badin







Figure 4.12: PMD Observed Temperature & Precipitation Data in Comparison to CCSM4 Modelled Data (Cotton – Zone D)

Figures 4.5 - 4.12 depict the temperature and profile of selected districts as observed, and projected values under RCP scenarios 4.5 & 8.5. In all cases, the temperature has remained constant or slightly above the reference period. In terms of precipitation in some cases the observed is higher than reference, whereas in others it is below this average (as discussed in the previous section). Rajbhandari et al., 2014 suggested an overall non-homogenous change in precipitation. However, the higher precipitation, cannot be generalized as an increase in precipitation, as it is important to take into account the intense rainfall events and consequent dry days (period), which could have possibly been averaged out. Ashfaq et al., 2009 found that enhanced forcing of GHG induced an increase in dry spells, conversely Nicholls et al., 2012 showed an increased frequency of extreme precipitation events. (This is also noteworthy in interpretation of section 4.5 results). Largely, the real-time data within the 2006 -2016 time frame suggest that within the wheat crop growing season, both scenarios over-estimate temperature slightly, whereas the opposite is true for rice and cotton seasons that shows observed temperature to be higher than that under RCP 4.5 & 8.5. Precipitation patterns are less clear, generally RCP 4.5 overestimates the precipitation, whereas RCP 8.5 under-reports, with a few exceptions (details in Tables 4.11 - 4.13).

District Name	Tempera	ture (°C)	Precipitat	tion (mm)
	RCP 4.5	RCP 8.5	RCP 4.5	RCP 8.5
	Zon	ie B		
Jhelum	0.8	0.8	92.5	-13.9
Lahore	0.7	0.8	43.1	-5.6
Sialkot	1.8	2.2	69.6	-12.7
	Zon	ie D		
Bahawalnagar	1.5	1.3	18.4	-1.4
Bahawalpur	2.8	2.5	13.6	1.8
Faisalabad	1.6	1.5	39.2	-7.8
Jacobabad	2.6	2.7	14.0	-1.6
Multan	2.4	2.0	17.8	-3.9
	Zor	ne E		
Badin	1.4	1.2	17.9	5.2
Hyderabad	2.1	1.9	-0.5	5.4
S. Benazir Abad	1.8	1.6	18.0	3.3

Table 4.11: Mean Bias in Wheat Crop Growing Season in RCP scenarios 4.5 and8.5 w.r.t PMD observed values

Table 4.12: Mean Bias in Rice Crop Growing Season in RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5 w.r.t PMD observed values

District Name	Tempera	ture (°C)	Precipitat	tion (mm)
	RCP 4.5	RCP 8.5	RCP 4.5	RCP 8.5
	Zor	ne B		
Sialkot	-0.6	-0.5	19.8	-25.9
Lahore	-1.2	-1.3	-48.8	-1.3
	Zon	ie D		
Jacobabad	0.7	-1.3	3.9	1.0
Bahawalnagar	-0.9	-1.2	-5.1	-19.3
Bahawalpur	-0.1	-0.4	11.5	-2.4
Faisalabad	-1.0	-1.2	-22.1	-24.3
Multan	-0.5	-1.0	1.0	-9.8
	Zor	ne E		
Badin	-0.1	-0.5	10.9	-16.1
Hyderabad	-0.4	0.3	-24.6	-3.8
S. Benazir Abad	-0.1	0.3	9.9	-1.2

Table 4.13: Mean Bias in Cotton Crop Growing Season in RCP scenarios 4.5 and8.5 w.r.t PMD observed values

District Name	Tempera	ture (°C)	Precipitation (mm)							
	RCP 4.5	RCP 8.5	RCP 8.5							
Zone D										
Bahawalnagar	-0.3	-0.9	-2.7	-16.0						
Bahawalpur	0.5	0.0	11.0	-2.1						
Multan	-0.3	-0.6	1.3	-6.8						
	Zor	ne E								
Badin	0.9	1.1	22.0	17.4						
Hyderabad	1.2	1.6	-	20.1						
S. Benazir Abad	-1.1	0.6	7.7	-7.0						

4.5 Decadal projected average climate in wheat, rice & cotton under RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5 (2010-2100)



Figure 4.13: Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of 21st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Wheat – Zone B)



Figure 4.14: Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of 21st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Wheat – Zone D)



Figure 4.15: Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of 21st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Wheat – Zone E)

Figures 4.13 - 4.15, above show a definitive increase in temperature throughout, precipitation has a fluctuating trend (see also, Chaudhary, 2017). In RCP 4.5 there was a pronounced increase in rainfall within the decade 2010 - 2020 (especially in zone B districts (Jhelum, Lahore and Sialkot). Proceeding decades remain positively inclined, (until 2041 - 2050) in which zones B and D show a negative change. After this decline, it picks up slightly, ending with above baseline average rainfall by the end of the century. Within the RCP 8.5 scenario the change in precipitation is negative, especially in zone B and parts of zone D

(Multan, Faisalabad) till 2070. Subsequently, it emerges to an increasing trend. In comparison zone E districts show a positive trend throughout the century. Overall, RCP 8.5 provides a more 'wetter' outlook compared to RCP 4.5, towards 2100. Ikram *et al.* (2016) in their study on Pakistan's monsoon season, support this notion; observing longer breaks (dry periods) and frequent intense precipitation events in the future.

The temperature is increasing from the onset, with as much as a 2°C rise by 2020 in some regions, especially the arid districts of zones D & E. In RCP 4.5 the increase remains around 2 - 3°C till mid-century, leading to a 5 - 6°C rise in 2091 – 2100. RCP 8.5 indicates, similar trend as RCP 4.5 scenario till mid-century, after which it shoots up to a staggering 9 - 10.8°C (greatest increase being in zone D & E).



Figure 4.16: Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of 21st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Rice – Zone B)



Figure 4.17: Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of 21st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Rice – Zone D)



Figure 4.18: Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of 21st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Rice – Zone E)

As with the wheat growing season, in rice growing season, the overall temperature is increasing with time, whereas precipitation tends to increase/decrease in some cases (Figures 4.16 - 4.18).

In RCP 4.5 zone B (Lahore & Sialkot) and in some cases shows a negative change in precipitation till and beyond mid-century. Moreover, in the last decade of the 21^{st} century (i.e. 2099 – 2100), Faisalabad, Multan, Sialkot, Lahore, Badin, Hyderabad all show a decrease in precipitation compared to the

base period. Similar trends are visible in the RCP 8.5 scenario, especially in Lahore, Sialkot and Badin.

On the temperature front the latter half of the century is warming, ending with an increase of $6 - 7^{\circ}$ C. In RCP 8.5, there is a similar pattern observed till 2020 especially, zones B and D. The rest of the century there is an increase, up to $8 - 10^{\circ}$ C.



Figure 4.19: Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of 21st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Cotton – Zone D)



Figure 4.20: Decadal Projected Average Temperature & Precipitation till End of 21st Century under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 (Cotton – Zone E)

In RCP 4.5 within the cotton crop growing season there is a positive change in precipitation, with the exception of a decrease in the decade 2099 - 2100 in districts Multan and Bahawalpur. In RCP 8.5, there is an increase in precipitation throughout the projected period. In terms of temperature change, there is a continual rise, the final increase is 2 - 4.8°C, and 5 - 8.6°C in RCP 4.5, and 8.5 respectively. The warming accelerates in the second half of the century.

4.6. Percentage relative change in crop productivity of wheat, rice & cotton crop in Y2006 – 2016

The overall inclination of crop productivity is towards a positive growth throughout the study period. With some years showing greater increase than others (Tables 4.14 - 4.16). It is important to understand that there are a number of inputs that constitute the final yield of crops. Ranging from climatic conditions, technological/mechanical development, fertilizer intake, pesticide use, seed variety, soil type, water irrigation (availability & quality), cultivated area utilized, and policy/market incentives (Burney & Ramnathan 2014, Bruinsma *et al.*, 1983). Although, crop productivity seems to increase positively domestically, on the global level Pakistan has one of the lowest growing productivity (Pakistan Business Council, 2018).

Factors responsible for slow growth in productivity, include lack of annual per capita availability of water in Pakistan, change in climate, pollution, lack of upgradation of technology & infrastructure, seed variety, and land management (Murgai *et al.*, 2001; Aslam, 2016; FAO, 2018). This current study uses a multivariate regression model to analyse the impact of change in temperature, precipitation and tropospheric ozone on the productivity of wheat, cotton, and rice crop.

Table 4.14: Percentage Relative Change in Wheat Crop Productivity(kg/hectares) w.r.t baseline period 1981 – 2005

District	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Bahawalnagar	54.5	30.8	46.0	-	59.4	50.2	52.4	55.0	60.6	55.8	66.9
Bahawalpur	39.1	23.2	43.2	-	50.3	52.5	43.4	44.5	45.6	54.2	62.6
Faisalabad	32.4	12.0	24.8	-	35.0	29.9	33.2	34.5	36.6	34.2	39.9
Jhelum	60.1	23.2	54.7	-	43.4	5.3	36.4	23.8	50.6	70.6	35.6
Lahore	9.2	1.8	3.9	-	19.2	24.8	28.4	21.6	13.9	23.9	31.0
Multan	30.7	6.5	35.4	-	28.9	19.2	33.3	35.4	38.6	38.8	48.7
Sialkot	36.6	34.5	38.1	-	41.8	55.9	60.7	62.0	60.7	31.4	37.5
Badin	80.9	76.2	86.2	-	97.9	82.6	104.3	102.7	-	-	-

Hyderabad	33.0	98.2	62.5	-	61.7	59.9	55.4	53.2	-	-	-
Jacobabad	118.7	84.5	85.7	-	108.0	87.4	60.8	92.4	-	-	-
S. Benazir	30.0	29.0	28.5	-	57.7	42.5	37.1	43.9	-	-	-
Abad											

Table 4.15: Percentage Relative Change in Rice Crop Productivity(kg/hectares) w.r.t baseline period 1981 – 2005

District	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Bahawalnagar	54.2	44.6	49.2	-	67.5	68.2	77.1	73.6	73.4	63.6	67.2
Bahawalpur	23.2	1.0	21.9	-	20.6	13.2	17.0	12.4	36.4	44.7	32.4
Faisalabad	17.2	30.8	29.6	-	47.7	38.8	49.5	41.4	47.2	46.1	52.8
Jhelum				-							
Lahore	21.7	41.8	46.2	-	37.4	37.5	48.3	54.1	49.3	44.5	36.4
Multan	7.6	28.5	15.5	-	46.3	24.1	41.0	21.4	37.5	44.5	48.4
Sialkot	258.1	269.7	48.8	-	41.8	55.2	60.8	52.3	47.5	50.7	52.7
Badin	-16.2	63.2	117.7	-	159.4	-0.3	174.3	168.7	-	-	-
Hyderabad	-4.7	8.0	60.2	-	81.6	16.4	84.4	77.8	-	-	-
Jacobabad	30.2	28.4	55.5	-	-13.2	48.2	39.0	57.1	-	-	-
S. Benazir Abad	63.2	46.9	104.5	-	101.7	64.5	109.0	94.8	-	-	-

Table 4.16: Percentage Relative Change in Cotton Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)w.r.t baseline period 1981 – 2005

District	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Bahawalnagar	47.3	26.1	44.4	-	35.8	63.3	56.6	57.8	55.4	22.5	35.5
Bahawalpur	31.5	9.7	20.6	-	11.5	32.6	18.8	18.6	26.9	-8.6	21.1
Multan	26.6	16.7	16.5	-	5.8	40.6	33.1	26.7	32.1	-37.2	1.8
Badin	164.1	136.8	259.9	-	429.3		325.0	245.4	-	-	-
Hyderabad	35.0	23.4	141.6	-	176.4	278.5	119.2	104.3	-	-	-
S. Benazir Abad	35.8	32.0	58.6	-	121.6	214.6	102.8	81.9	-	-	-

4.7. Regression model results

	Wh	eat	
Variable	Statistic	Z	p value
Rho (Crop Productivity)	0.852	-1.994	0.02
Rho (Temperature)	0.176	-26.43	0.00
Rho (Precipitation)	0.270	-23.05	0.00
Rho (Ozone)	-0.419	-12.30	0.00
	Ri	ce	
Rho (Crop Productivity)	0.697	-7.46	0.00
Rho (Temperature)	0.100	-27.79	0.00
Rho (Precipitation)	0.007	-30.98	0.00
Rho (Ozone)	0.158	-4.40	0.00
	Cot	ton	
Rho (Crop Productivity)	0.848	-1.94	0.04
Rho (Temperature)	0.202	-18.83	0.00
Rho (Precipitation)	0.009	-23.93	0.00
Rho (Ozone)	0.097	-6.32	0.00

Table 4.17: Harris-Tzavalis unit root test results

The Harris – Tzavalis test (Table 4.17) shows whether there is a systematic pattern that is unpredictable in the time –series (**unit root**). A p-value below 0.05 and z test above 1.92 allows the null hypothesis to be rejected, suggesting that there is no unit root in the data. The Pearson's Chi-Squared Test tests the null hypothesis that the variables are independent. The overall value calculated averages to 0.234 (agreeing with previous study by Bhutto & Ming 2013), thus, there is no significant dependence between the two independent variables. The null hypothesis is accepted and hence there is no issue of multicollinearity.

 Table 4.18: Haussmann Test Results for Climate Variables

Crop	Prob > Chi ²	Model Selected
Wheat	0.01	Fixed Effect
Rice	0.01	Fixed Effect
Cotton	0.13	Random Effect

The Haussmann tests (Table 4.18) for testing endogeneity that is whether the 'over-time error' has any correlation with the observed explanatory variables. The null hypothesis states that error term is uncorrelated with observed valuables, hence random effect model is the preferred model. In the case that $Prob > Chi^2$ is less than 0.05 (i.e. significant) the null hypothesis is rejected & Fixed Effect Model is used to undertake the regression (Torres-Reyna, 2007, Green 2008).

Variable	Model	n value	Model	n value	Model	n value
	I	p runic	II	p raine	III	p runic
		Wheat				
Temperature (T)	231.73	0.000	1191	0.011	231.67	0.000
- • • •	(6.76)		(2.55)		(6.77)	
Precipitation (P)	2.79	0.349	4.51	0.144	10.52	0.106
	(0.94)		(1.47)		(1.62)	
T ²			-24.58	0.042		
			(-2.06)			
P ²					-0.11	0.182
					(-1.34)	
		Rice				
Temperature (T)	193.0	0.001	1704.93	0.03	195.36	0.001
	(3.30)		(2.26)		(3.33)	
Precipitation (P)	0.083	0.946	0.205	0.87	2.360	0.358
	(0.07)		(0.17)		(0.92)	
T^2			-25.83	0.044		
			(-2.01)			
P ²					-0.012	0.312
					(-1.01)	
		Cotton	l			
Temperature (T)	121.73	0.000	3005.83	0.036	120.06	0.000
	(4.48)		(2.09)		(4.37)	
Precipitation (P)	1.58	0.157	1.68	0.129	0.550	0.838
	(1.42)		(1.52)		(0.20)	
T ²			-46.97	0.044		
			(-2.01)			
P ²					- 0.013	0.674
					(0.42)	

Table 4.19: Pooled Data for Punjab and Sindh (Wheat, Rice and Cotton)¹

¹ N.B The value within parenthesis denotes the t-statistic in Wheat & Rice Tables, & z-statistic in cotton table

		Wheat			Rice			Cotton	
Statistic	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)
Mean	2224.7	19.6	14.8	1722.7	29.1	46.70	609.06	30.6	23.4
Minimum	598.9	15.4	0.1	763.5	24.4	0.10	113.39	28.9	0.1
Maximum	4725.2	23.2	86.7	4446.1	33.4	262.6	1971.8	33.4	114.2
Standard Deviation	696.6	16.1	1.7	741.1	2.0	46.7	282.0	0.7	18.0

Table 4.20: Statistics for Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Punjab & Sindh

Table 4.21: Diagnostics tests for pooled panel data for districts of Punjab& Sindh

Test	Wheat	Rice	Cotton
R Squared	0.47	0.41	0.13
Adjusted R Squared	0.46	0.39	0.10
F statistic	23.34	5.79	10.24
Probability (F –stat)	0.000	0.003	0.001

Table 4.22: The optimum average temperature & precipitation values for crop growing season retrieved from coefficients of (T, T², P and P²) generated by regression model

Variable	Optimum Average Temperature (°C)	Optimum Average Precipitation (mm)
Wheat	24.23	47.8
Rice	33.00	98.33
Cotton	32.00	21.15

The diagnostic test results (Table 4.21) indicate that the models are satisfactory to produce statistically sound results, as the F test for all three models have values less than 0.05. The R squared and Adjusted R squared values indicate there is an average correlation between crop productivity, and the climate variables (temperature and precipitation) which can be attributed to non – availability of other input data at district level e.g. technological advancement (discussed in section 4.7), as well as the fact that we use a panel data set that, unlike time-series, normally give lower Adjusted R² values (i.e. less than 0.5).

Table 4.19 details the regression results generated from the regression models, for each crop and respective variables under study. The proceeding sub-sections elaborate the results further.

4.7.1 Wheat Crop

The Model I generated shows that crop productivity indicates a positive response to temperature 231.73 kg/ha increase in wheat crop with 1°C increase. Similarly, it shows a positive response to increasing rainfall; 1mm increase leads to an increase of 2.79 kg/ha wheat production. Model II gives a coefficient for T^2 at -24.58 kg/ha. The negative sign of coefficient, in the squared variable (extremes), specifies the presence of an inverted parabola; where values below the maxima of temperature/ precipitation show that productivity increases till maximum value is reached, after which further rise reduces productivity. This applies to precipitation as well. Therefore, using this coefficient the optimum average temperature can be obtained for wheat in the study area. After which any further increase in temperature will lead to a decline in production. The P² coefficient derived from Model III is -0.11 kg/ha. The thresholds calculated (Table 4.22) for wheat are the following; temperature is 24.3°C and precipitation is 47.8 mm.

4.7.2 Rice Crop

Model I calculates the temperature coefficient with productivity increase of 193.0 kg/ha per rise in 1°C. The precipitation leads to rising productivity of 0.083 kg/ha per mm increase. Model II gives an output for T^2 as -25.83 kg/ha, Model III generates P^2 coefficient as -0.012 kg/ha. That is in case of 'extremes'

the productivity starts to fall. The thresholds calculated (Table 4.22) for rice are the following; temperature is 33.0°C and precipitation is 98.33 mm.

4.7.3 Cotton Crop

With Model I the temperature coefficient is + 115.3 kg/ha with one degree increase. The precipitation is + 1.90 kg/ha per mm increase. Model II gives an output for T^2 as -44.28 kg/ha, Model III resultant P² coefficient is -0.019 kg/ha. The thresholds calculated (Table 4.22) for cotton are the following; temperature is 32.1°C and precipitation is 11.21 mm.

It is important to note that in all crop models, the temperature variable is statistically significant. These findings are consistent with earlier studies including; Ali et al. (2017) and Siddiqui et al. (2011). Conversely, precipitation is observed as statistically insignificant in all cases. Interestingly, these findings are also consistent with earlier studies such as; Burney & Ramnathan (2014), Exenberger et al. (2014), Javed et al. (2014), Hussain & Bangash (2017). This may imply that, the remaining water 'requirement' is met through the irrigation systems for attaining maximum output per hectare (Hussain & Bangash, 2017). Furthermore, weak statistical relationship between precipitation and crop productivity in a multiple regression, may occur due to the reduced sensitivity of the former variable in the presence of multiple soil types in different climatic zones, alternative irrigation sources and potential magnitude of measurement error in rainfall due to spatial heterogeneity (Lobell and Burke 2010, Lobell, 2008). Changes in precipitation are seldom the governing factor for productivity impact prediction, in the presence of more dominating factors, like temperature, and tropospheric ozone (Lobell & Asseng, 2017).

4.8 Identification of Vulnerable Crop Growing Areas under RCP 4.5 & 8.5

Vulnerable areas within the study area were demarcated, by classifying the temperature and precipitation data, in accordance to the thresholds calculated from regression model (Table 4.22). These are defined as areas identified that will have below optimum productivity for the respective crops (lower than current averages).

Figure $4.21 - 4.26^2$ maps out the vulnerable areas to temperature (red areas) and precipitation (dark blue) in the wheat, rice and cotton production areas. It is evident that in all cases temperature exceeds the threshold, especially post midcentury. RCP 8.5, as is, paints a wary picture with complete depletion of suitable areas for crop growth towards the end of the century. Figure 4.21 illustrates that southern region of the study area (south Punjab & Sindh) is impacted more than the central/northern Punjab in wheat growing season, whereas, the pattern is reversed in rice growing season. Precipitation is largely, insignificant in terms of impact, in both rice (figure 4.24) and wheat (figure 4.25) season. Figure 4.23 & 4.26 indicates that cotton crop is greatly affected by change in both temperature and precipitation, with complete depletion of suitable areas from 2040 onwards. This is mainly due to the proximity of the minimum/average temperature to the threshold value, leaving behind a small window of avoidance of exceedance. Even though cotton can grow in hot climates, heat stress is a major constraint in production of cotton in various countries including Pakistan, thus any further rise in temperature, and water starvation, can deplete production (Houth, 2017, Raza and Ahmed, 2015).

² See Annexure (p.78): study area map, with selected districts labelled.



Figure 4.21: Average temperature in Wheat growing season under IPCC RCP 4.5 and 8.5. Decadal change of 2010 – 2020, 2040 – 2050, 2060 – 2070, 2090 - 2100



Figure 4.22: Average temperature in Rice growing season under IPCC RCP 4.5 and 8.5. Decadal change of 2010 – 2020, 2040 – 2050, 2060 – 2070, 2090 - 2100



Figure 4.23: Average temperature in Cotton growing season under IPCC RCP 4.5 and 8.5. Decadal change of 2010 – 2020, 2040 – 2050, 2060 – 2070, 2090 - 2100



Figure 4.24: Average precipitation in Wheat growing season under IPCC RCP 4.5 and 8.5. Decadal change of 2010 – 2020, 2040 – 2050, 2060 – 2070, 2090 - 2100



Figure 4.25: Average precipitation in Rice growing season under IPCC RCP 4.5 and 8.5. Decadal change of 2010 – 2020, 2040 – 2050, 2060 – 2070, 2090 - 2100



Figure 4.26: Average precipitation in Cotton growing season under IPCC RCP 4.5 and 8.5. Decadal change of 2010 – 2020, 2040 – 2050, 2060 – 2070, 2090 - 2100





Figure 4.27 Tropospheric ozone concentration over study area 2005 – 2016

Chiefly the trend over the last decade in terms of tropospheric ozone within wheat growing season is increasing, with the exception of the districts in Zone B (see, Table 4.23). However, the Mann Kendall test shows that the trend is not statistically significant (p-value: 0.502). Rice crop season shows an increasing and statistically significant trend (p-value <0.0001), unanimously across all zones/districts under study. Average tropospheric ozone concentration within the cotton growing season is increasing (p-value: <0.0001) across the study area. The greatest rise is 9.37% in Zone E, over wheat growing season.

Table 4.23: Percentage Relative Change in Concentration of TroposphericOzone within Crop Growing Season (2005 – 2016)

Zone	Wheat	Rice	Cotton		
В	-4.4	0.97	-		
D	2.16	2.18	1.82		
E	9.37	1.95	1.82		
Zone	Precipitation	Temperature			
--------	---------------	-------------	--	--	--
Wheat					
В	0.00	0.05			
D	0.36	0.24			
E	0.17	0.16			
	Rice				
В	0.08	0.002			
D	0.06	0.02			
E	0.05	0.07			
Cotton					
D	0.03	0.01			
Е	0.03	0.08			

 Table 4.24: Correlation between temperature, precipitation and tropospheric ozone.

There is no apparent significant relationship between temperature and precipitation, with tropospheric ozone, over the study period (2005 - 2016) in Punjab & Sindh. As is evident from the low R² values in Table 4.24. However, there is a seasonal pattern in place, as displayed in Figure 4.28; with peaks in the month of June and dips in December/January. This, pattern, however, can have a higher relation to number of sunny (UV-B flux) or clear days, than solely temperature spikes, as ozone fundamentally forms as a result of 'photo' chemical reactions (Noreen *et al.* 2018, Somvanshi, 2016). Climate warming and ozone are said to impact each other only in terms of increased biogenic emissions and rate of chemical processes (Fu *et al.*, 2015), there remains a lack of consensus in the atmospheric chemistry community, as to whether increasing temperature will enhance ground-level ozone levels (ASM, 2015). Determining variables, such as presence of precursor emissions, solar radiation (ultraviolet), atmospheric stagnation and circulation, all play an important part in providing an ideal environment for formation and total concentration of ozone produced in the troposphere (This is further discussed in proceeding paragraphs).



Figure 4.28: Seasonal variation in tropospheric ozone concentration over the study area (2005 - -2016)



Zone E



Figure 4.29: Variation in concentration of tropospheric ozone between crop seasons

Generally, tropospheric ozone exhibits relatively low levels in wheat growing season (winter), average of 54.78 ppb (Table 4.28). For rice and cotton growing season (summer) average concentration was 63 ppb, with maximum values of 68 ppb. This trend is in line with previous studies conducted by Tiwari *et al.*, (2008), Worden *et al.* (2009) and Noreen *et al.* (2018) that state maxima of tropospheric ozone occur in summer months (June), which also coincides with the Asian monsoon, whereas the minima is observed during the winter months (Figure 4.29).. This variation can be attributed to high temperatures, biomass fires, biogenic emissions of VOCs and actinic fluxes, coupled with transboundary movement of pollutant-ridden air masses (Khokhar *et al.*, 2015). Past studies observe that post-wheat harvesting contributes to around 51.7% of the total ozone abundance, whereas post-rice is 10%, resulting from crop residue burning in the province of Punjab (Noreen *et al.*, 2018)

4.10 Regression Model Results (Climate change & Tropospheric Ozone) Table 4.25: Haussmann Test Results for Tropospheric Ozone Variable

Сгор	Prob > Chi ²	Model Selected
Wheat	0.11	Random Effect
Rice	0.19	Random Effect
Cotton	0.21	Random Effect

Variable	Coefficient	$\mathbf{P} > \mathbf{z}$
	Wheat	
Temperature (T)	66.59	0.096
	(1.66)	
Precipitation (P)	-1.61	0.64
	(-0.47)	
Tropospheric Ozone (O)	19.79	0.189
	(1.31)	
	Rice	
Temperature (T)	-43.11	0.519
	(-0.65)	
Precipitation (P)	-2.61	0.271
	(-1.10)	
Tropospheric Ozone (O)	-81.91	0.037
	(-2.09)	
	Cotton	
Temperature (T)	27.06	0.73
	(0.34)	
Precipitation (P)	4.26	0.06
	(1.89)	
Tropospheric Ozone (O)	-56.27	0.00
	(-3.25)	

 Table 4.26: Pooled Data for Punjab and Sindh (Wheat, Rice and Cotton)³

Table 4.27: Diagnostic Tests over Study Period

Test	Wheat	Rice	Cotton	
R Squared	0.341	0.250	0.267	
Adjusted R Squared	0.321	0.222	0.223	
F statistic	16.45	9.13	6.08	
Probability (F –stat)	bability (F –stat) 0.000		0.001	

 $^{^3}$ N.B The value within parenthesis denotes the z-statistic

Wheat						
Statistic	Crop Productivity	Temperature	Precipitation	Ozone (ppb)		
	(kg/hectares)	(°C)	(mm)			
Mean	2224.7	19.6	14.8	54.78		
Minimum	598.9	15.4	0.1	46.79		
Maximum	4725.2	23.2	86.7	62.94		
Standard	696.6	16.1	1.7	3.37		
Deviation						
		Rice				
Mean	1722.7	29.1	46.70	63.67		
Minimum	763.5	24.4	0.10	59.59		
Maximum	4446.1	33.4	262.6	68.20		
Standard	741.1	2.0	46.7	2.24		
Deviation						
		Cotton				
Mean	609.06	30.6	23.4	63.67		
Minimum	113.39	28.9	0.1	59.59		
Maximum	1971.8	33.4	114.2	68.20		
Standard	282.0	0.7	18.0	2.24		
Deviation						

 Table 4.28: Statistics for Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Punjab & Sindh

Haussmann Test results (Table 4.25) indicate that Random Effects Model is the correct model to utilize for regressing ozone against crop productivity. The diagnostic results favour the appropriateness of the produced results (Table 4.27). The model demonstrates the association between tropospheric ozone and crop productivity (Table 4.26). The estimated relationship between ozone and wheat productivity is positive, however statistically insignificant: p value, >0.05 (see also, Burney & Ramanathan, 2014; Yi *et al.*, 2015). In the study region; the wheat growing season has the lowest level of tropospheric ozone concentrations observed. Moreover, wheat grown in winter is not impacted by ozone as much as wheat grown in spring, due to the time of the year, ozone concentrations and temperature within growing period (see also, Burney & Ramanathan, 2014; Aunan *et al.*, 2000; Mulholland 1997; Lesser *et al.*, 1990). When only the districts of Punjab are included in the panel, the estimate, however, depicts a

negative coefficient of -9.85 kg/ha (p value: >0.05). This indicates adverse impact of tropospheric ozone on wheat productivity. However, for the panel including Sindh only, the coefficient remains positive and statistically insignificant. This variation in impact within two provinces may be attributed to the difference in growing months (in lower Sindh (Zone E), wheat is harvested in March), when concentrations are comparatively lower than Punjab.

Rice and cotton crops both show statistically significant decrease in crop productivity in the presence of tropospheric ozone (81.26 and 56.27 kg/ha decrease per increase in 1ppb, respectively). This can be due to their growing seasons coinciding with the highest concentration levels of tropospheric ozone (60–68 ppb). Ozone sensitivity is another factor that can contribute to yield loss. Studies by National Crop Loss Assessment Network USA, depict that dicot (e.g., cotton) are more sensitive to loss in yield than monocot species of crops (e.g., wheat) in the presence of tropospheric ozone (Heagle, 1989).

Interestingly, the estimates of temperature change to statistically insignificant with the inclusion of the tropospheric ozone variable. This could be due to the masking effect of the ozone on the temperature. This is despite that no multicollinearity was detected statistically (variance inflation factor values <5), but an inherent relationship does exist between the two, as illustrated by the seasonal variation. Studies in the past, have shown that impacts of climate variables are undermined in the presence of the dominant air pollution inputs (Burney & Ramanathan, 2014; Wang, 2005). Nevertheless, impacts of all contributing factors need to be simultaneously assessed for their full impact on crop productivity.

Chapter 5: Conclusions & Recommendations

5.1 Conclusions

Results discussed in chapter 4 and aforementioned findings lead to the following conclusions:

- Temperature in all climatic zones is increasing within the 2006–2016 decade over regions under study. Downscaled regional forecasts suggest that under RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 temperature may increase 3° to 10°C in all crop growing seasons by the end of 21st century;
- 2. Precipitation has high inter–annual variability with no distinct pattern, and observed changes are statistically insignificantly.
- Tropospheric ozone has predominantly intensified over time within rice and cotton growing districts of Punjab and Sindh.
- 4. Regression results indicate that wheat, rice and cotton productivity is significantly and positively impacted by rise in temperature until it reaches the threshold level, precipitation has a similar impact but is statistically insignificant
- 5. Future temperature and precipitation projections under RCP 4.5 & 8.5 show, that the study area is highly vulnerable to changes in temperature, and in future suitable areas will be limited for ample productivity (especially for cotton) in Pakistan.
- 6. Tropospheric ozone emerges as a highly dominant damaging factor, especially for the productivity of rice and cotton crops.

Conclusively, findings of this study suggest that the mitigation of tropospheric ozone pollution, and climatic variables are important in terms of increasing crop productivity, and thus abating future food crises.

5.2 Recommendations

Having identified and quantified the potential impact of the three variables under study, it is evident that policies need to be carved to retard, if not diminish the causative factors. It necessitates management of cropland and rigorous study of indigenous agricultural applications. Practices like improvement and diversification of crop varieties (increasing tolerance), updating crop calendars and rotations, climate-smart agricultural practices (aiding decision-making), and recognition of the importance of incorporation of holistic farming and technology. In terms of abating tropospheric ozone and related short-lived pollutants, stringent pollution control techniques and standards need to be introduced. Prior to which identification of point and non-point sources of said pollutants is required. Integrative studies comprising crop models such as DSSAT in collaboration with statistical models, as used in this current research, can further enable a more accurate picture of crop productivity from small scale to large scales.

Above all, greater research is required, aided by creation of baseline emission, and data inventories, which are currently lacking. This study would provide a more comprehensive impact assessment if long-term data, at district level, are available on agricultural technology used, infrastructure, fertiliser intake, pesticide usage, daily monitored tropospheric ozone (both satellite and on–site), etc. Nevertheless, this research provides apt indication and direction for planning and strategizing sustainable crop productivity in future.

References

- Adnan, M., N. Rehman, M. M. Sheikh, A. A. Khan, K. A. Mir, M. A. Khan, (2016).
 Influence of Natural Forcing Phenomena on Precipitation of Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Meteorology*. 12(24): 23-35.
- Ali, S., et al., (2017). Climate Change and Its Impact on the Yield of Major Food Crops: Evidence from Pakistan. *Foods*. 6(6); 39 DOI: 10.3390/foods6060039.
- ArcGIS: Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI). (2015). ArcGIS Release 10.3.1. Redlands, CA.
- Ashfaq, M., Shi, Y., Tung, W., Trapp, R. J., Gao, X., Pal, J. S., Diffenbaugh, N.
 S., (2009). Suppression of south Asian summer monsoon precipitation in the 21st century. *Geophysical Research Letters*. 36(L01704): 1-5. DOI: 10.1029/2008GL036500.
- Asian Scientist Magazine (ASM), (2015). Do Higher Temperatures Increase Surface Ozone. URL: https://www.asianscientist.com/2015/04/in-thelab/higher-temperatures-increase-surface-ozone/
- Aslam, (2016). Agricultural Productivity Current Scenario, Constraints and Future Prospects in Pakistan. *Sarhad Journal of Agriculture*. 32(4): 258-423.
- Aunan, K., Berntsnen, T., Seip, H. M., (2000). Surface Ozone in China and its Possible Impact on Agricultural Crop Yields, AMBIO A Journal of the Human Environment. 29(6).
- Bhutto, A. Q., Ming, W., (2013). Impact of El-Nino on Summer Monsoon in Southern Parts of Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Meteorology*. 10(19): 41-48.

- Bruinsma, J., Hrabovszky, J., Alexandratos, N., Petri, P., (1983). Crop production and input requirements in developing countries. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*. 10 (3).
- Burney J., Ramanathan, V., (2014). Recent climate and air pollution impacts on Indian agriculture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. DOI:

www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1317275111.

- Chameide, W. L., et al., (1999). Is Ozone Polution Affecting Crop Yield in China? *Geophysical Research Letters*. 26(7): 867-870.
- Chaudhary, Q. Z., (2017). Climate Change Profile of Pakistan. *Asian Development Bank Report*, Islamabad Pakistan.
- Eckstein, D., Künzel, V., Schäfer, L., (2018). German Watch (GW), the Global Climate Index Report. URL: www.germanwatch.org/en/cri.
- Exenberger A., Pondorfer, A., and Wolters, M. H., (2014). Estimating the impact of climate change on agricultural production: accounting for technology heterogeneity across countries." Working Papers, Faculty of Economics and Statistics, University of Innsbruck.

Food & Agriculture Organization, (2012). 'Agriculture Cropping Pattern – Pakistan' mapped by FAO – ERCU Pakistan. URL: https://reliefweb.int/map/pakistan/pakistan-agriculture-cropping-patternkharif-season-27-march-2012.

Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (2018). Pakistan at a glance, Available at: http://www.fao.org/pakistan/fao-in-pakistan/pakistan-at-a-glance/en/

- Fu M. T., Zheng Y., Paulot, F., Mao, J., Yantosca, R., (2015). Positive but variable sensitivity of August surface ozone to large-scale warming in the southeast United States, *Nature Climate Change*. 5: 454-458.
- Government of Pakistan, (2018). Overview of Agriculture Statistics, Agriculture Department of Punjab. URL:http://www.agripunjab.gov.pk/overview%20new.
- Greene, W.H., (2008). Econometrics Analysis, 6th edition, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Haider, K., Khokhar, M. F., Chishtie, F., Khan, W. R., Hakeem K. R, (2017).
 Identification and future description of warming signatures over Pakistan, with special emphasis on evolution of CO₂ levels and temperature during the first decade of 21st century. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-016-8359-5.
- Haq, Z., Tariq, S., Ali, M., (2015). Tropospheric NO₂ Trends over South Asia during the Last Decade (2004–2014) Using OMI Data. *Advances in Meteorology*, p.18 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/959284.
- Heagle, A. S., (1989). Ozone and crop yield. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. 27: 397-423.
- IPCC, (2013). Summary for Policymakers, In Climate Change 2013: The physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.K., Tignor, M., Allen, S.K., Boschung, J., Naules, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V. and Midgely, P.M (Eds.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.1-30.
- Iqbal, A., Goheer, M. A., Khan, M. A., (2009). Climate Change Aspersions on Food Security of Pakistan. *Science Vision*. 15 (1): 15-23.

- Javed S. A., Ahmad, M., Iqbal, M., (2014). Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture in Pakistan: A District Level Analysis. Climate Change Working Papers, Pakistan Institute of Development Economics, Pakistan.
- Khan, A. H. K., (2004). The influence of La Nina Phenomena on Pakistan's precipitation. *Pakistan Journal of Meteorology*. 1(1): 23-31.
- Khokhar M.F., Khalid, T., Yasmin, N., and De Smedt, I. Spatiotemporal Analyses of Formaldehyde over Pakistan Using Sciamachy and Gome-2 Observations. *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*. 15: 1760-1773.
- Klumpp A., et al., (2006). Ozone pollution and ozone biomonitoring in European cities Part II. Ozone-induced plant injury and its relationship with descriptors of ozone pollution. *Atmospheric Environment*. 40 (38): 7437-7448.
 DOI:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.07.001.
- Kobayashi, K. Okada, M., Nouchi, I. (1995). Effect of ozone on dry matter partitioning and yield of Japanese cultivars of rice (Oryza sativa L.). Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment, 53(2): 109-122.
- Kumar, K. K., Rajagopalan, B., Hoerling, M., Bates, G., Cane, M., (2006).
 Unravelling the Mystery of Indian Monsoon Failure during El Niño. *Science*.
 314: 115-119. DOI: 10.1126/science.1131152.
- Lagzi, I., Mészáros, R., Gelybó, G., Leelőssy, A., (2013). Ozone, *Atmospheric Chemistry*, chapter 8, Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest, Hungary.
- Laura Routh, (2017). Why climate change is material for the cotton industry, Green Biz. URL: https://www.greenbiz.com/article/why-climate-change-material-cotton-industry

- Lesser, V.M., Rawlings, J.O., Spruill, S.E., Somerville, M.C., (1990). Ozone effects on agricultural crops: statistical methodologies and estimated dose-response relationships. *Crop Science*. 30: 148-155.
- Lobell D B and Burke M B (2008). Why are agricultural impacts of climate change so uncertain? The importance of temperature relative to precipitation *Environ*. *Res. Lett.* 3(034007):1-8.
- Lobell D. B. and Asseng, S., (2017). Comparing estimates of climate change impacts from process-based and statistical crop models. *Environ. Research Letters.* 12(015001):1-12.
- Lobell D. B. and Burke M. B., (2010). On the use of statistical models to predict crop yield responses to climate change. *Agriculture and Forest Meteorology Journal*. 150: 1443–52.
- Meinshausen, M., et al., (2011). "The RCP greenhouse gas concentrations and their extensions from 1765 to 2300", *Climatic Change*. 109 (1-2): 213–241.
 DOI: 10.1007/s10584-011-0156-z.
- Miao, R., Khanna, M., Huang, H., (2016). Responsiveness of Crop Yield and
 Acreage to Prices and Climate. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 98(1): 191-211, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajae/aav025.
- Mulholland B. J., Craigon, J., Black, C.R., Colls, J.J., Atherton, J., Landon, G., (1997). Effects of elevated carbon dioxide and ozone on the growth and yield of spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*), *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 48(1): 113-122, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/48.1.113.

- Murgai R., Ali, M., Byerlee, D., (2001). "Productivity Growth and Sustainability in Post-Green Revolution Agriculture: The case of the Indian and Pakistan Punjabs." *The World Bank Research Observer*. 16(2): 199-218.
- Nicholls, S.I. N., et al., (2012). Changes in climate extremes and their impacts on the natural physical environment. In: Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Cambridge University Press, 109-230.
- Noreen, A., Khokhar, M. F., Zeb, N., Yasmin, N., Hakeem, K. H., (2018). Spatiotemporal assessment and seasonal variation of tropospheric ozone in Pakistan during the last decade. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 25(9):8441-8454.
- Pakistan Business Council (PBC), (2018). Pakistan: Rising Imports, Declining Exports & Premature Deindustrialization.
- Pakistan Crop calendar (FAO), (2012). URL:

http://dwms.fao.org/~test/downs/docs/pak_crop_calendar.pdf.

- Park, H., Chiang, J. C., Linter B. R., Zhang, G. J., (2010). The Delayed Effect of Major El Nino Events on Indian Monsoon Rainfall. *Journal of Climate*. 23.
- Qasim, M., Khlaid, S., Shams, F. D., (2014). Spatiotemporal Variations and Trends in Minimum and Maximum Temperatures of Pakistan. *Journal of Applied Environmental Biology Science*. 4: 85-93.
- Rai, R., Agarwal, M., (2012). Impact of Tropospheric Ozone on Crop Plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, India - Section B: *Biological Sciences*. 82(2). DOI: 10.1007/s40011-012-0032-2.

- Rajbhandari, R., Shrestha, A. B., Kulkarni, A., Patwardhan, S. K., Bajracharya,
 S. R., (2015). Projected changes in climate over the Indus river basin using a high resolution regional climate model (PRECIS). *Climate Dynamics*. 44: 339-357.
- Ramaswamy, V., et al., (2001). Radiative forcing of climate change. In: Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Cambridge University Press. 349-416.
- Raza, A., (2015) Grain and Feed Annual Report. USDA Foreign Agriculture Service, Global Agriculture Information Network.
- Raza, A., Ahmad, M., (2015) Analysing the Impact of Climate Change on Cotton
 Productivity in Punjab and Sindh, Pakistan, *Climate Change Working Papers*,
 No. 9, Pakistan Institute of Development Economics, Islamabad.
- Rehman A., Jingdong, L., Shahzad, B., Chandio A. A., Hussain, I., Nabi, G., Iqbal MS. (2015) Economic Perspectives of Major Field Crops of Pakistan: An empirical study. *Pacific Science Review B: Humanities and Social Sciences*. 1:3 145-158.
- Riaz A., (2001).Crop Management in Pakistan. Government of Pakistan, Agriculture Department, p. 280.
- Rodman E. S., (1968) "Weather Patterns in Southern West Pakistan". Arch. Met. Geoph. Biokl. 16: 316—346.
- Samee, D., et al., (2015). Women in Agriculture in Pakistan, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Islamabad, Pakistan.
- Siddiqui R., Sarmad, G., Jalil, H. H., (2012). The Impact of Climate Change on Major Agriculture Crops: Evidence from Punjab, Pakistan. Proceedings of

Annual General Meeting Pakistan Institute of Development Economics, Islamabad.

- Skarby, L. et al., (1993). Effects of Air Pollution on Agricultural Crops in Europe, Commission of the European Communities, Brussels, p. 241-259.
- Somvanshi, A., (2016). Analysis of ground-level ozone formation and its correlation with concentration of other pollutants and weather elements. URL: https://www.authorea.com/users/106766/articles/144150-analysis-of-ground-level-ozone-formation-and-its-correlation-with-concentration-of-other-pollutants-and-weather-elements/_show_article.
- STATA: StataCorp. (2015). Stata Statistical Software: Release 14. College Station, TX: StataCorp, LP.
- Suleri, A. Q., Haq S., (2009). Food Insecurity in Pakistan, World Food Program (WFP) Report.
- Tiwari S., Rai, R., Agarwal, M., (2008). Annual and seasonal variation in tropospheric ozone concentrations around Varanasi, *International Journal of Remote Sensing*. 89 (15): 4499-4514.
- Torres-Reyna, O., (2009). Panel Data Analysis Fixed and Random Effects using Stata (v. 4.2.) Training Manual, Princeton University, USA.
- URL: https://www.pbc.org.pk/research/selected-trade-and-manufacturing-datafor-pakistan-a-brief_analysis-2/
- van Vuuren, D. P., et al., (2011). The representative concentration pathways: an overview. *Climatic Change*. 109(1-2): 5.

- Wahid, A., (2006). Influence of atmospheric pollutants on agriculture in developing countries: a case study with three new wheat cultivars in Pakistan. *Science of the Total Environment*, 371: 304-313.
- Wahid, A., Maggs, R., Shamsi, S.R.A., Bell, J.N.B. and Ashmore, M.R., (1995).Air pollution and its impacts on wheat yield in the Pakistan Punjab, *Environmental Pollution*. 88: 147-154.
- Wang, X. D., (2005). The Economic Impact of Global Climate and Tropospheric Ozone on World Agricultural Production, Thesis, MIT, Massachusetts, USA.
- Wayne, G.P. (2013) The Beginner's Guide to Representative Concentration Pathways, Version 1.0, URL: www.skepticalscience.com.
- Wilkinson, S., Mills, G., Illidge, R., Davies, J. W., (2012). How is ozone pollution reducing our food supply? *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 63 (2): 527-536. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err317.
- Worden, J., et al., (2009). Observed Vertical Distribution of Tropospheric Ozone during the Asian Summertime Monsoon. *Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres.* 114.
- Yi, F., Jiang, F., Zhong, F., Ding, A., Zhou, X., (2015). Impacts of Surface Ozone Pollution on Crop Productivity: Evidence from Winter Wheat in China. *Proceedings of Conference Agriculture in an Interconnected World*, Universita Degli Studi Di Milano, Milan Italy.

Annexure

Selected Districts Under Study (Punjab & Sindh)



Zone	Climate	Selected Districts
D	Mild	Lahore, Sialkot,
В	Cold	Jhelum
		Bahawalpur,
D	Dry And	Bahawalnagar,
	Hot	Multan, Faisalabad
		Jacobabad
	Arid to	Hyderabad,
E	Hyper	Shaheed Benazir
	Arid	Abad, Badin

Mann Kendall Test p-value results

District Name	Precipitation	Temperature
Bahawalpur	0.610	0.001
Bahawalnagar	0.536	< 0.0001
Multan	0.351	0.010
Faisalabad	0.973	0.001
Sialkot	0.368	0.001
Lahore	0.277	0.004
Jhelum	0.601	0.004
Jacobabad	0.269	0.001
Badin	0.156	0.000
Hyderabad	0.586	0.405
S. Benazir Abad	0.506	0.012

Сгор	Crop Productivity	Tropospheric	
		Ozone	
Wheat	0.002	0.502	
Rice	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
Cotton	0.002	< 0.0001	

Variance Inflation Factor

Wheat			
Variable	VIF		
Precipitation	2.06		
Temperature	1.51		
Ozone	1.46		
Mean VIF	1.67		

Rice			
Variable	VIF		
Precipitation	1.58		
Temperature	1.48		
Ozone	1.38		
Mean VIF	1.48		

Cotton			
Variable	VIF		
Precipitation	1.10		
Temperature	1.10		
Ozone	1.00		
Mean VIF	1.07		

Climate Variables (Temperature & Precipitation) Regressed Against Crop Productivity

Wheat Fixed Effect Model; Haussmann Test = 0.000						
	Model –	P > t	Model -	P > t	Model –	P > t
Variable	1		2		3	
Temperature (T)	235.20	0.000	1572.6	0.093	236.40	0.000
	(4.08)		(1.69)		(3.94)	
Precipitation (P)	2.23	0.465	2.54	0.404	2.94	0.762
_	(0.73)		(0.84)		(0.30)	
T^2			-36.5	0.152		
			(1.44)			
P ²					-0.008	0.938
					(-0.08)	

A. Pooled Panel Data for Districts (Zone B) Mild Cold

<i>Rice</i> Fixed Effect Model; Haussmann Test = 0.040										
Variable	Model – 1	P > t	Model – 2	P > t	Model – 3	P > t				
Temperature	463.3	0.010	9315	0.035	508.88	0.006				
(T)	(2.64)		(2.15)		(2.87)					
Precipitation (P)	2.39	0.224	2.27	0.236	12.35	0.104				
	(1.23)		(1.20)		(1.65)					
T ²			-160.42	0.045						
			(-2.04)							
P ²					-0.035	0.174				
					(-1.38)					

B. Pooled Panel Data for Districts (Zone D) Dry & Hot

<i>Wheat</i> Fixed Effect Model; Haussmann Test = 0.000									
	Model - 1	P > t	Model - 2	P > t	Model – 3	P > t			
Variable									
Temperature (T)	301.3	0.000	1655.7	0.040	300.82	0.000			
	(6.14)		(2.07)		(6.11)				
Precipitation (P)	12.28	0.024	13.67	0.012	18.33	0.251			
	(2.28)		(2.53)		(1.15)				
T^2			-35.1	0.092					
			(-1.7)						
P ²					-0.18	0.686			
					(-0.40)				

		Rice Fix	ed Effect Mode	el; Haussma	nn Test = 0.0	00
Variable	Model – 1	P > t	Model – 2	P > t	Model – 3	P > t
Temperature (T)	189.8 (4.11)	0.000	3325	0.000	185.41	0.000
Precipitation	5.67	0.000	6.05	0.000	11.84	0.003
(P)	(3.60)		(4.05)		(3.02)	
T ²			- 52.70	0.000		
			(4.35)			
P ²					-0.069	0.088
					(-1.72)	

		<i>Cotton</i> Fixed Effect Model; Haussmann Test = 0.007									
Variable	Model -	P > t	Model - 2	P > t	Model - 3	P > t					
	1										
Temperature	81.57	0.001	1216	0.233	82.03	0.001					
(T)	(3.41)		(1.20)		(3.40)						
Precipitation	0.72	0.483	0.80	0.435	0.058	0.986					
(P)	(0.70)		(0.78)		(0.02)						
T ²			-18.46	0.265							
			(-1.12)								
P ²					0.0095	0.831					
					(0.21)						

C. Pooled Panel Data for Districts (Zone E) Arid to Hyper Arid

<i>Wheat</i> Random Effect Model; Haussmann Test = 0.560										
Variable	Model – 1	P > z	Model – 2	P > z	Model – 3	P > z				
Temperature (T)	140.37	0.100	1317	0.480	143.97	0.092				
	(1.64)		(0.71)		(1.68)					
Precipitation (P)	25.99	0.141	24.98	0.160	56.93	0.103				
_	(1.47)		(1.41)		(1.63)					
T ²			-28.4	0.527						
			(-0.63)							
P2					-1.284	0.305				
					(1.02)					

		<i>Rice</i> Ra	ndom Effect I	Model; Ha	ussmann Tes	st = 0.56
	Model – $P > z$		Model - 2	P > z	Model –	P > z
	1				3	
Variable						
Temperature	19.12	0.557	332.45	0.772	15.98	0.627
(T)	(0.59)		(0.29)		(0.49)	
Precipitation	-5.31	0.056	-5.50	0.056	-1.08	0.865
(P)	(-1.9)		(-1.91)		(-0.17)	
T ²			-5.38	0.784		
			(-0.27)			
P ²					-0.032	0.472
					(-0.74)	

	<i>Cotton</i> Random Effect Model; Haussmann Test = 0.72								
Variable	Model – 1	P > z	Model – 2	P > z	Model – 3	P > z			
Temperatur e (T)	156.3 (3.37)	0.001	8060 (2.49)	0.013	156.98 (3.32)	0.001			
Precipitatio n (P)	2.398 (1.34)	0.180	2.64 (1.51)	0.131	2.75 (0.64)	0.525			
T ²			-128 (-2.44)	0.015					
P ²					-0.004 (-0.09)	0.929			

Pool	Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Climatic Zone B Summary										
		Wheat			Rice						
Statistic	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)					
Mean	2032.73	18.24	34.45	1492.67	27.7	115.73					
Minimum	598.90	15.35	4.00	852.84	25.73	42.92					
Maximum	3209.79	20.68	93.7	4446.13	29.85	262.58					
Standard Deviation	646.31	1.26	18.16	594.18	0.96	47.38					

Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Climatic Zone E (Diagnostics Tests)									
Test	Wheat	Rice	Cotton						
R Squared	0.050	0.034	0.111						
Adjusted R Squared	0.029	0.017	0.092						
F statistic	2.59	1.84	6.00						
Probability (F –stat)	0.08	0.164	0.003						

	Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Climatic Zone D Summary									
		Wheat			Rice			Cotton		
Statistic	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	
Mean	2213.64	19.27	10.91	1711.13	29.13	29.23	621.42	30.53	25.44	
Minimum	1101.10	16.08	0.85	857.14	24.95	0.23	174.76	28.89	2.39	
Maximum	3257.59	22.80	38.95	4223.28	33.3	109.68	925.30	33.42	77.58	
Standard Deviation	583.84	1.36	7.56	708.81	1.41	21.24	161.93	0.654	15.75	

Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Climatic Zone D (Diagnostics Tests)								
Test	Wheat	Rice	Cotton					
R Squared	0.046	0.450	0.10					
Adjusted R Squared	0.034	0.440	0.10					
F statistic	3.940	64.95	4.27					
Probability (F -stat)	0.021	0.000	0.020					

	Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Climatic Zone E Summary										
		Wheat			Rice			Cotton			
Statistic	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Crop Productivity (kg/hectares)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)		
Mean	2534.38	21.35	3.20	1976.42	29.94	29.17	624.91	30.61	22.56		
Minimum	934.98	17.3	0.08	763.456	24.36	0.10	113.39	29.08	0.10		
Maximum	4725.19	23.16	35.33	4237.26	33.42	182.66	1971.78	32.34	114.24		
Standard Deviation	816.21	0.95	4.60	839.55	2.66	31.11	379.21	0.80	20.63		

Pooled Panel Data for Districts of Climatic Zone B (Diagnostics Tests)				
Test	Wheat	Rice		
R Squared	0.121	0.013		
Adjusted R Squared	0.104	0.016		
F statistic	7.22	0.44		
Probability (F –stat)	0.001	0.65		

Tropospheric Ozone (ppb) & Climate Change Regressed Against Crop Productivity (Punjab & Sindh) – Wheat Crop

Punjab only			
Variable	Coefficient	P > t	
Temperature	-24.43	0.574	
Precipitation	-4.05	0.182	
	(-1.35)		
Ozone	-9.85	0.546	
	(-0.61)		

Sindh only			
Variable	Coefficient	P > t	
Temperature	175.3	0.06	
	(1.96)		
Precipitation	14.98	0.163	
	(0.16)		
Ozone	59.16	0.080	
	(1.82)		

Test	Punjab	Sindh
R Squared	0.48	0.341
Adjusted R Squared	0.44	0.321
F statistic	17.90	16.45
Probability (F –stat)	0.000	0.000